## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

## **FORM 10-K**

## ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

**COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 000-50129** 

# HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant As Specified in Its Charter)

**Delaware** (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) 59-3547281 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

622 Third Avenue, New York, New York 10017 (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(212) 351-7300 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None.

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, \$.001 par value per share

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes 🗌 No 🗵

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Act. Yes 🗆 No 🗵

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 🗵 No 🗆

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. Yes 🗵 No 🗆

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). (Check one):

Large accelerated filer  $\square$  Accelerated filer  $\boxtimes$  Non-accelerated filer  $\square$ 

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is an shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes 🗆 No 🗵

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately \$325,648,000 as of June 30, 2005.

The number of shares of Common Stock, \$.001 par value, outstanding as of March 1, 2006 was 24,385,000.

## DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III.

#### **Table of Contents**

		Page 3
<u>PART I</u>		
ITEM 1.	BUSINESS	3
ITEM 1A	RISK FACTORS	5
ITEM 1B	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	11
ITEM 2.	PROPERTIES	11
ITEM 3.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	11
ITEM 4.	SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS	11
EXECUTIVE C	FFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT	12
PART II		14
ITEM 5.	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY	
	<u>SECURITIES</u>	14
ITEM 6.	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	15
ITEM 7.	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	16
ITEM 7A.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	31
ITEM 8.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	32
ITEM 9.	CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE	66
ITEM 9A.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	66
ITEM 9B.	OTHER INFORMATION	67
PART III		68
ITEM 10.	DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT	68
ITEM 11.	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	68
ITEM 12.	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	68
ITEM 13.	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	69
ITEM 14.	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES	69
PART IV		69
ITEM 15.	EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES	69
SIGNATURES		72
EXHIBIT INDEX		73
EAHIDIT INDEA		13

#### PART I

#### **ITEM 1. BUSINESS**

Hudson Highland Group, Inc. ("the Company" or "we", "us" and "our") is one of the world's largest specialized professional staffing, retained executive search and talent management solutions providers. The Company provides professional staffing services on a permanent, contract and temporary basis, as well as executive search and a range of talent management services to businesses operating in many industries. We help our clients in recruiting employees for positions ranging from mid-level or professional candidates to senior executives. The Company reassessed its reportable segments in the fourth quarter of 2005 and prior period results are presented in conformity with the 2005 presentation. The Company is organized into four reportable segments, the three Hudson regional businesses of Hudson Americas, Hudson Europe and Hudson Asia Pacific, and Highland Partners ("Highland"). These groups constituted approximately 21%, 38%, 30% and 11% of the Company's gross margin, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2005.

*Hudson Regional Businesses.* Hudson's three regions provide temporary and contract personnel and permanent recruitment services to a wide range of clients. With respect to temporary and contract personnel, Hudson focuses on providing candidates with specialized functional skills and competencies, such as accounting and finance, legal and information technology. The length of a temporary assignment can vary, but engagements at the professional level tend to be longer than those in the general clerical or industrial sectors. With respect to permanent recruitment, Hudson focuses on mid-level professionals typically earning between \$50,000 and \$150,000 annually and possessing the professional skills and/or profile required by clients. Hudson provides permanent recruitment services on both a retained and contingent basis. In larger markets, Hudson's sales strategy focuses on both clients operating in particular industry sectors, such as financial services, health care, or technology, and candidates possessing particular professional skills, such as accounting and finance, information technology, legal and human resources. Hudson uses both traditional and interactive methods to select potential candidates for its clients, employing a suite of products that assesses talent and help predict whether a candidate will be successful in a given role.

All of the Hudson regional businesses also provide organizational effectiveness and development services through their Talent Management Solutions units. These services encompass candidate assessment, competency modeling, leadership development, performance management, and career transition. These services enable Hudson to offer clients a comprehensive set of management services, across the entire employment life cycle, from attracting, assessing and selecting best-fit employees to engaging and developing those individuals to help build a high-performance organization. Through the Hudson Center for High Performance (the "Center for High Performance"), the Company also offers leadership solutions designed to assist senior management in enhancing the operating performance of their organizations.

Hudson Americas operates from 48 offices in two countries, with 96% of its 2005 gross margin generated in the United States. Hudson Europe operates from 48 offices in 17 countries, with 58% of its 2005 gross margin coming from the United Kingdom operations. Hudson Asia Pacific operates from 25 offices in 6 countries, with 65% of its 2005 gross margin stemming from Australia.

*Highland.* Highland, an executive search boutique with global reach, offers a comprehensive range of executive search services on a retained basis aimed exclusively at recruiting senior level executives. Highland also has a specialized practice that assists clients desiring to enhance their boards of directors.

Highland approaches the market through industry sectors, such as financial services, life sciences, retail and consumer products and technology. This industry sector sales approach is designed to enable Highland to better understand the strategic management issues and market conditions faced by clients within their specific business segments. Highland also recruits candidates through functional specialist groups, including those focused on boards of directors and senior officers in the finance, information technology, human resources and legal professions.

Highland operates in 14 practice offices in four countries. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 75% of gross margin in the Highland business was derived in North America.

Corporate expenses are reported separately from the four reportable segments and consist primarily of expenses for compensation, marketing programs, rent and professional consulting.

The Company was historically the combination of 67 acquisitions (the "Constituent Companies") made between 1999 and 2002, which became the eResourcing and Executive Search divisions ("HH Group") of Monster Worldwide, Inc. ("Monster"), formerly TMP Worldwide, Inc. Some of the Company's constituent businesses have operated for more than 20 years. On March 31, 2003 (the "Distribution Date"), Monster distributed all of the outstanding shares of the newly named HH Group to its stockholders of record on March 14, 2003 on a basis of one share of HH Group common stock for each thirteen and one-third shares of Monster common stock so held (the "Distribution"). Since the Distribution, the Company has operated as an independent publicly held company, adding one mid-sized and three smaller acquisitions, and reorganizing a number of smaller business units after determining that those businesses were not viable profit centers.

#### SALES AND MARKETING

Each of Hudson's regional business units maintains a sales force that is aligned along functional practice areas or industry sector groups as appropriate for the market. At the same time, these business development specialists receive incentives for cross-selling services with other practices and business units as the client need arises. In addition, each region has a designated international sales liaison who coordinates new business efforts with other geographies as opportunities arise for global recruitment and/or talent management needs from a client or prospect. Responsibility for sales and business development within Highland Partners rests with the senior executives of the division who possess senior-level relationships with clients and can leverage those relationships into new executive search assignments.

The company's global marketing and communications function is responsible for brand and marketing strategy, channel programs, public relations and corporate/employee communications. This team closely coordinates with the operational leadership and regional/practice/business unit marketing teams to support sales and build a strong brand reputation—both in the market and within the organization.

We use three principal channels for marketing our services and promoting our brand: (1) in the United Kingdom, Australia, New Zealand, and other countries where it is an accepted practice, we use client paid advertising for vacant positions; (2) public relations to promote original research on business management and human capital issues of particular relevance to senior business managers; and (3) the Internet, both for promoting the Company's services to clients and attracting, assisting and managing candidates.

#### CLIENTS

The Company's clients include small to large-sized corporations and government agencies. No one client accounted for more than 5% of total annual revenue in 2005. At December 31, 2005, there were approximately 1,200 Hudson Americas clients, 5,500 Hudson Europe clients, 4,900 Hudson Asia Pacific clients and over 500 Highland clients.

#### COMPETITION

The markets for the Company's services and products are highly competitive. There are few barriers to entry, so new entrants occur frequently, resulting in a great deal of fragmentation. Companies in this industry compete on price, new capabilities and technologies, client attraction methods, and speed of completing assignments.

#### EMPLOYEES

The Company employs approximately 3,800 people worldwide. In most jurisdictions our employees are not represented by a labor union or a collective bargaining agreement. The Company regards the relationships with its employees as satisfactory.

#### SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC DATA

Financial information concerning the Company's reportable segments and geographic areas of operation is included in Note 16 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

#### AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We maintain a web site with the address *www.hhgroup.com*. We are not including the information contained on our web site as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this report. Through our web site, we make available free of charge (other than an investor's own Internet access charges) our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports in a timely manner after we provide them to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### **ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS**

The following risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be carefully considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

#### Since our spin-off in 2003, we have had a history of negative cash flows and operating losses that may continue for at least the next year.

We have experienced negative cash flows and we have shown operating and net losses in the past. In 2005, we became modestly profitable. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we used cash in operating activities of \$26.3 million and we recorded net income attributable to common stockholders of \$5.3 million. We expect to continue to experience negative cash flows from operating activities for at least the next year. If our revenue grows more slowly than we anticipate or if operating expenses exceed our expectations, we may not be profitable in the next year.

#### Our revenues can vary because our clients can terminate their relationship with us at any time with limited or no penalty.

We provide executive search and mid-market professional staffing services on a temporary assignment-by-assignment basis, which clients can generally terminate at any time or reduce their level of use when compared to prior periods. Our executive search and professional staffing business is also significantly affected by our clients hiring needs and their views of their future prospects. Clients may, on very short notice, reduce or postpone their recruiting assignments with us and therefore, affect demand for our services.

#### Our operations will be affected by global economic fluctuations.

Demand for our services may fluctuate with changes in economic conditions, especially those resulting in slower or reduced employment growth. Because we operate from many small offices with fixed overhead, we have only limited flexibility to reduce expenses during economic downturns. Further, we may face increased pricing pressures during these times. For example, during 2001 and 2002, employers across the United States

reduced their overall workforce to reflect the slowing demand for their products and services. In turn, our revenue was significantly reduced in the United States. Economic conditions could continue in 2006, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

#### Our credit facility restricts our operating flexibility.

We have a \$75.0 million senior secured credit facility. As of December 31, 2005, we had outstanding borrowings of \$30.1 million and letters of credit issued and outstanding of \$15.5 million under the credit facility. Available credit for use under the credit facility as of December 31, 2005 was \$29.4 million. Our ability to borrow under the credit facility is tied to a borrowing base of our eligible accounts receivable. If the amount or quality of our accounts receivable deteriorates, our ability to borrow under the credit facility will be directly affected. In addition, our credit facility requires that we satisfy certain financial covenants, including complying with targeted levels of adjusted EBITDA. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be able to borrow under our credit agreement if we need money to fund working capital or other needs. In addition, our credit facility contains various restrictions and covenants that restrict our operating flexibility including:

- prohibitions on payments of dividends and repurchases of stock;
- restrictions on our ability to make additional borrowings, or to consolidate, merge or otherwise fundamentally change the ownership of the Company; and
- limitations on investments, dispositions of assets and guarantees of indebtedness.

These restrictions and covenants could have important consequences for investors, including the need to use a portion of our cash flow from operations for debt service rather than for our operations, an inability to incur additional debt financing for future working capital or capital expenditures, a lesser ability to take advantage of significant business opportunities, such as acquisition opportunities, or to react to market conditions; lesser ability to sell assets, grant or incur liens on our assets, or engage in mergers or consolidations.

Our ability to comply with these financial requirements and other restrictions may be affected by events outside our control, in particular macroeconomic events. Our inability to comply with them could result in a default under our credit facility or other debt instruments. If a default occurs under our credit facility, the lenders under this facility could elect to declare all of the outstanding borrowings, as well as accrued interest and fees, to be due and payable and require us to apply all of our available cash to repay those borrowings. In addition, a default may result in higher rates of interest and the inability to obtain additional borrowings. Further, debt incurred under our credit facility bears interest at variable rates. Any increase in interest expense could reduce the funds available for operations.

#### We face risks relating to our foreign operations.

We conduct operations in over 20 foreign countries. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, approximately 66%, 70% and 71%, respectively, of our revenue was earned outside of the United States. The financial results of our company could be materially affected by a number of factors particular to international operations. These include but are not limited to difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; operational issues such as longer customer payment cycles and greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

- changes in tax laws or other regulatory requirements;
- issues relating to uncertainties of laws and enforcement relating to the regulation and protection of intellectual property; and currency fluctuation. If we are forced to discontinue any of our international operations, we could incur material costs to close down such operations.

Regarding the foreign currency risk inherent in foreign operations, the results of our local operations are reported in the applicable foreign currencies and then translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable foreign



currency exchange rates for inclusion in our financial statements. In addition, we generally pay operating expenses in the corresponding local currency. We had no hedging or similar foreign currency contracts outstanding at December 31, 2005. Because of devaluations and fluctuations in currency exchange rates or the imposition of limitations on conversion of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars, we are subject to currency translation exposure on the revenue and income of our operations in addition to economic exposure. This risk could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

#### We face risks associated with acquisitions.

From time to time, we make acquisitions. The success of these acquisitions is dependent upon our ability to integrate acquired personnel, operations, products and technologies into our organization effectively; and our ability to retain and motivate key personnel and to retain the clients of acquired firms. If we are not successful upon making an acquisition in the aspects of its integration into our operations, our financial results may be materially adversely affected.

#### We rely on our information systems, and if we lose that technology or fail to further develop our technology, our business could be harmed.

Our success depends in large part upon our ability to store, retrieve, process and manage substantial amounts of information, including our client and candidate databases. To achieve our strategic objectives and to remain competitive, we must continue to develop and enhance our information systems. This may require the acquisition of equipment and software and the development, either internally or through independent consultants, of new proprietary software. Our inability to design, develop, implement and utilize, in a cost-effective manner, information systems that provide the capabilities necessary for us to compete effectively, or any interruption or loss of our information processing capabilities, for any reason, could harm our business, results of operations or financial condition.

#### Our markets are highly competitive.

The markets for our services are highly competitive and those markets are characterized by pressures to reduce prices, incorporate new capabilities and technologies, accelerate job completion schedules and attract and retain highly skilled professionals who possess the skills and experience necessary to fulfill our clients' employee search needs.

Furthermore, we face competition from a number of sources. These sources include other executive search firms and professional search, staffing and consulting firms. Several of our competitors have greater financial and marketing resources than we do.

Due to competition, we may experience reduced margins on our products and services, as well as loss of market share and our customers. If we are not able to compete effectively with current or future competitors as a result of these and other factors, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

We have no significant proprietary technology that would preclude or inhibit competitors from entering the mid-market professional staffing and temporary contracting and executive search markets. We cannot assure you that existing or future competitors will not develop or offer services and products that provide significant performance, price, creative or other advantages over our services. In addition, we believe that with continuing development and increased availability of information technology, the industries in which we compete may attract new competitors. Specifically, the advent and increased use of the Internet may attract technology-oriented companies to the executive search industry. We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to compete effectively against existing or future competitors. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

#### Our operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter and therefore quarterly results cannot be used to predict future periods' results.

Our operating results fluctuate quarter to quarter in the past primarily due to the vacation periods of the first quarter in the Australasia region and the third quarter in the US and Europe regions. Demands for our services are typically lower during vacation periods.

#### Our employees may depart with existing executive search clients.

The success of our executive search business depends upon the ability of employees to develop and maintain strong, long-term relationships with clients. Usually, one or two employees have primary responsibility for a client relationship. When an employee leaves an executive search firm and joins another, clients that have established relationships with the departing employee may move their business to the employee's new employer. The loss of one or more clients is more likely to occur if the departing employee enjoys widespread name recognition or has developed a reputation as a specialist in executing searches in a specific industry or management function. Historically, we have not experienced a significant number of departures of executive search partners. However, a failure to retain our most effective executive search partners or maintain the quality of service to which our clients are accustomed could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. Also, the ability of a departing executive search partner to move business to his or her new employer could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Competition for highly skilled professionals is intense, and we compete with professional staffing and executive search agencies for qualified professionals. We and many of our competitors have experienced turnover of qualified professionals. We believe that we have been able to attract and retain highly qualified, effective professionals as a result of our reputation and our performance-based compensation system. These professionals have the potential to earn substantial bonuses based on the amount of revenue they generate by obtaining or executive search and permanent placement assignments or assisting other professionals to obtain or complete executive search and permanent placement assignments.

Bonuses and commissions represent a significant proportion of these professionals' total compensation. Any diminution of our reputation could impair our ability to retain existing or attract additional highly skilled professionals. Any inability to attract and retain highly skilled professionals could have a material adverse effect on our executive search business, financial condition and operating results.

#### We face restrictions imposed by blocking arrangements in Highland Partners.

Either by agreement with clients or for marketing or client relationship purposes, executive search firms frequently refrain, for a specified period of time, from recruiting certain employees of a client, and possibly other entities affiliated with such client, when conducting executive searches on behalf of other clients. This is known as a "blocking" or "off-limits" arrangement. Blocking arrangements generally remain in effect for one or two years following completion of an assignment. The actual duration and scope of any blocking arrangement, including whether it covers all operations of a client and its affiliates or only certain divisions of a client, generally depends on such factors as:

- the length of the client relationship;
- · the frequency with which the executive search firm has been engaged to perform executive searches for the client; and
- the number of assignments the executive search firm has generated or expects to generate from the client.

Some of our executive search clients are recognized as industry leaders and/or employ a significant number of qualified executives who are potential candidates for other companies in that client's industry. Blocking

arrangements with a client of this nature, or the awareness by a client's competitors of such an arrangement, may make it difficult for us to obtain executive search assignments from, or to fulfill executive search assignments for, competitors while employees of that client may not be solicited. As our client base grows, particularly in our targeted business sectors, blocking arrangements increasingly may impede our growth or ability to attract and serve new clients. This could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

## We may be exposed to employment-related claims, legal liability and costs from both clients and employers that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, and our insurance coverage may not cover all of our potential liability.

We are in the business of employing people and placing them in the workplaces of other businesses. Risks relating to these activities include:

- · claims of misconduct or negligence on the part of our employees;
- claims by our employees of discrimination or harassment directed at them, including claims relating to action of our clients;
- claims related to the employment of illegal aliens or unlicensed personnel;
- claims for payment of workers' compensation claims and other similar claims;
- claims for violations of wage and hour requirements;
- claims for retroactive entitlement to employee benefits;
- claims of errors and omissions of our temporary employees, particularly in the case of professionals;
- claims by taxing authorities related to our employment of independent contractors and the risk that such contractors could be considered employees for tax purposes;
- claims related to our non-compliance with data protection laws which require the consent of a candidate to transfer resumes and other data; and
- claims by our clients relating to our employees' misuse of client proprietary information, misappropriation of funds, other criminal activity or torts or other similar claims.

We are exposed to potential claims with respect to the recruitment process. A client could assert a claim for matters such as breach of a blocking arrangement or recommending a candidate who subsequently proves to be unsuitable for the position filled. Similarly, a client could assert a claim for deceptive trade practices on the grounds that we failed to disclose certain referral information about the candidate or misrepresented material information about the candidate. Further, the current employer of a candidate whom we place could file a claim against us alleging interference with an employment contract. In addition, a candidate could assert an action against us for failure to maintain the confidentiality of the candidate's employment search or for alleged discrimination or other violations of employment law by one of our clients.

We may incur fines and other losses or negative publicity with respect to these problems. In addition, some or all of these claims may give rise to litigation, which could be time-consuming to our management team, costly and could have a negative impact on our business. In some cases, we have agreed to indemnify our clients against some or all of these types of liabilities. We cannot assure you that we will not experience these problems in the future, that our insurance will cover all claims or that our insurance coverage will continue to be available at economically feasible rates.

#### We depend on our key management personnel.

Our continued success will depend to a significant extent on our senior management, including Jon F. Chait, our Chairman and CEO. The loss of the services of Mr. Chait or one or more key employees could have a

material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, if one or more key employees join a competitor or form a competing company, the resulting loss of existing or potential clients could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

#### There may be volatility in our stock price.

The market price for our common stock has fluctuated in the past and could fluctuate substantially in the future. Factors such as the announcement of variations in our quarterly financial results or expected financial results could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly. Further, due to the volatility of the stock market generally, the price of our common stock could fluctuate for reasons unrelated to our operating performance.

## Government regulations may result in the prohibition, regulation or restriction of certain types of employment services we offer or in the imposition of additional licensing or tax requirements that may reduce our future earnings.

In many jurisdictions in which we operate, the temporary staffing industry is heavily regulated. For example, governmental regulations can restrict the length of contracts of temporary employees and the industries in which temporary employees may be used. In some countries, special taxes, fees or costs are imposed in connection with the use of temporary workers. For example, temporary workers in France are entitled to a 10% allowance for the precarious nature of employment, which is eliminated if a full-time position is offered to them within three days. The countries in which we operate may:

- · create additional regulations that prohibit or restrict the types of employment services that we currently provide;
- impose new or additional benefit requirements;
- require us to obtain additional licensing to provide staffing services; or
- increase taxes, such as sales or value-added taxes, payable by the providers of staffing services.

Any future regulations that make it more difficult or expensive for us to continue to provide our staffing services may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

#### Provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law will make it more difficult for someone to acquire control of us.

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws and the Delaware General Corporation Law contain several provisions that make more difficult an acquisition of control of us in a transaction not approved by our board of directors, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current prices, and that may limit the ability of stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best interests. Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws include provisions:

- dividing our board of directors into three classes to be elected on a staggered basis, one class each year;
- authorizing our board of directors to issue shares of our preferred stock in one or more series without further authorization of our stockholders;
- requiring that stockholders provide advance notice of any stockholder nomination of directors or any proposal of new business to be considered at any meeting
  of stockholders;
- permitting removal of directors only for cause by a super-majority vote;
- providing that vacancies on our board of directors will be filled by the remaining directors then in office;
- requiring that a super-majority vote be obtained to amend or repeal specified provisions or our certificate of incorporation or by-laws; and

eliminating the right of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders or take action by written consent without a meeting of stockholders.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law generally provides that a corporation may not engage in any business combination with any interested stockholder during the three-year period following the time that the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, unless a majority of the directors then in office approve either the business combination or the transaction that results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder or specified stockholder approval requirements are met.

In addition, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a "Right") for each outstanding share of common stock of the Company payable upon the close of business on February 28, 2005 to the stockholders of record on that date. Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value \$.001 par value ("Preferred Shares"), of the Company at a price of \$60 per one one-hundredth of a Preferred Share, subject to adjustment. These Rights may make the cost of acquiring the Company more expensive and, therefore, make an acquisition more difficult.

#### ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

#### **ITEM 2. PROPERTIES**

All of the Company's operating offices are located in leased premises. Our principal office is currently located at 622 Third Avenue, New York, New York, where we occupy space under a lease with Monster expiring in July 2015.

In the United States, Hudson Americas operates from 39 leased locations with space of approximately 197,000 square feet, Highland operates from six leased locations with space of approximately 45,000 square feet and there are seven leased locations with space of approximately 93,000 square feet, which are shared between the Hudson North America, Highland and corporate functions.

Outside the U.S., in the 20 additional countries in which the Company is located, Hudson Europe is the lessee of 42 locations with approximately 381,000 square feet, Hudson Asia Pacific is the lessee of 25 locations with approximately 296,000 square feet, Hudson Americas is a lessee of one location with approximately 10,000 square feet, Highland leases two locations with approximately 19,000 square feet, and Hudson and Highland share approximately 7,000 square feet in one location. All leased space is considered to be adequate for the operation of its business, and no difficulties are foreseen in meeting any future space requirements. The Company owns three vacant buildings in India, with approximately 6,700 square feet, which the Company is currently offering for sale.

#### **ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS**

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings that are incidental to the conduct of its business. The Company is not involved in any pending or threatened legal proceedings that it believes could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

#### ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of the Company's security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered in this report.

#### EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth certain information, as of February 24, 2006, regarding the executive officers of Hudson Highland Group, Inc.:

Name	Age	Title
Jon F. Chait	55	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mary Jane Raymond	45	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Margaretta R. Noonan	48	Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer
Donald E. Bielinski	56	Senior Vice President, Chairman—Asia Pacific Region and Chairman—Hudson Talent Management
Richard S. Gray	49	Senior Vice President, Marketing and Communications
Richard A. Harris	47	Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Neil J. Funk	54	Vice President, Internal Audit
Elaine A. Kloss	48	Vice President Finance and Treasurer
Ralph L. O'Hara	61	Vice President and Global Controller
Latham Williams	53	Vice President, Legal Affairs and Administration, Corporate Secretary

The following biographies describe the business experience of our executive officers:

Jon F. Chait has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since the Company was spun off from Monster in March 2003. He joined Monster in October 2002 expressly in contemplation of the spin-off. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chait was the Chairman of Spring Group, PLC, a provider of workforce management solutions, from May 2000 through June 2002 and Chief Executive Officer from May 2000 to March 2002. From 1998 through 2000, Mr. Chait founded and acted as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Magenta Limited, a developer of web-enabled human resource solutions, which was subsequently sold to Spring Group, PLC. Mr. Chait served as the Managing Director—International Operations of Manpower Inc. from 1995 to July 1998, Chief Financial Officer from August 1993 to 1998 and Executive Vice President, Secretary and Director from 1991 to 1998, and Executive Vice President from September 1989 to July 1998 of Manpower International Inc., a provider of temporary employment services. Mr. Chait is also a director of the Marshall and Ilsley Corporation, a bank holding company, and Krueger International Inc., a manufacturer of office furniture.

Mary Jane Raymond has served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hudson Highland Group since December 1, 2005. Prior to that Ms. Raymond was the Chief Risk Officer of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation during 2005. From 2002 to 2005, Ms. Raymond served as the Vice President and Corporate Controller of the Dun & Bradstreet Corporation. Ms. Raymond served as the Merger Integration Vice President of Lucent Technologies, Inc. from 1998 to 2002 and as Financial Vice President in International from 1997 to 1998. From 1992 to 1997, Ms. Raymond served in various positions with Cummins, Inc.

Margaretta R. Noonan has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer since February 2, 2005. Prior to that Ms. Noonan served as Executive Vice President, Human Resources since she joined the Company in January 2003. Prior to joining HH Group, Ms. Noonan served as Senior Vice President, Global Human Resources and corporate officer of Monster Worldwide, Inc. Prior to joining Monster in 1998, Ms. Noonan was Vice President, Human Resources—Stores, for the Lord & Taylor division of May Department Stores Company, a large retail department store, from February 1997 to May 1998 and was Vice President, Human Resources, of Kohl's Corporation, a large retail department store, from November 1992 to February 1997.

Donald E. Bielinski has served as Senior Vice President, Chairman—Asia Pacific Region and Chairman—Hudson Talent Management since December 31, 2005. Prior to that, Mr. Bielinski served as President, Strategic Business Services Group, since joining the Company in July 2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Bielinski was President and Chief Executive Officer of Exostar, a Washington, D.C. based technology services firm from January 2002 to June 2004. Prior to that, Mr. Bielinski served at W.W. Grainger, Inc., a provider of maintenance,

repair, and operating supplies, services, and related information, as Group President, from 1997 until June of 2001, after serving as Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales and as Senior Vice President, Organization and Planning.

Richard S. Gray has served as Senior Vice President, Marketing and Communications since February 2, 2005. Prior to that, Mr. Gray served as Vice President, Marketing and Communications since joining the Company in May 2003. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gray was Senior Vice President for Ogilvy Public Relations Worldwide, a large public relations firm, in Chicago, Illinois from September 2002 until May 2003. Before joining Ogilvy Public Relations Worldwide, Mr. Gray was a Vice President, Marketing and Communications for Lante Corporation, an internet consulting boutique, in Chicago, Illinois from November 1998 until November 2001.

Richard A. Harris has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer since joining the Company in January 2003. Prior to that, Mr. Harris served as the Chief Information Officer of Spring Group, PLC, a U.K. based human capital management company, from March 2001 to December 2002. Prior to joining Spring Group, PLC, Mr. Harris was the interim Chief Information Officer at TRS Staffing Services, a U.K. subsidiary of Fluor Corporation specializing in the technical staffing business, from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Harris also served as Chief Information Officer between 1994 and 1998 at TAC Worldwide, an information technologies staffing company.

Neil J. Funk has served as Vice President, Internal Audit since joining the Company in August 2003. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Funk was a Senior Manager at Deloitte & Touche LLP, a multi-national auditing and consulting firm, from September 2000 until July 2003. Before joining Deloitte & Touche, Mr. Funk was with Prudential Financial, Inc., a large insurance company, specializing in personal financial planning from March 2000 until August 2000. Before joining Prudential Financial, Inc., Mr. Funk was District Audit Manager for PRG-Schultz, Inc., a recovery audit company, based in Atlanta, Georgia from September 1997 until February 2000.

Elaine A. Kloss has served as Vice President, Finance and Treasurer since June 2005. Prior to joining Hudson Highland Group, Ms. Kloss was Vice President and Treasurer of NUI Utilities, Inc., a public company with natural gas distribution operations from January 2004 to January 2005. Prior to that, she served as treasury associate for Resources Global Professionals, Inc., an international professional services firm, from 2002 to 2004. Ms. Kloss served as Vice President and Treasurer with Ventiv Health, Inc., a diversified contract pharmaceutical sales company, from 1999 to 2001. Ms. Kloss also has held various treasury and financial positions at New York Life Insurance Company, Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc., AT&T and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

Ralph L. O'Hara has served as Vice President and Global Controller since joining the Company in June of 2003. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. O'Hara was Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer for The Domestic and Foreign Missionary Society, a major not-for-profit organization also known as the Episcopal Church of the United States, from 2001 until June of 2003. Before joining The Domestic and Foreign Missionary Society, Mr. O'Hara was Controller for GATX Corporation, a specialized finance and leasing company, from 1986 until 2000.

Latham Williams has served as Vice President, Legal Affairs and Administration, Corporate Secretary since joining the Company in January 2003. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Williams was a Partner, Leader Diversity Practice Group and Co-Leader Global Legal Practice in Monster's executive search division. Prior to joining Monster in 2001, Mr. Williams was an equity partner with the international law firm of Sidley Austin LLP from 1993 to 2000, specializing in health care joint ventures, mergers and acquisitions. Before joining Sidley Austin Brown and Wood, Mr. Williams was an equity partner in the Chicago-based law firm of Gardner, Carton & Douglas and was with the firm from 1981 to 1993.

Executive officers are elected by, and serve at the discretion of, the Board of Directors. There are no family relationships between any of our directors or executive officers.

#### PART II

# ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

### MARKET FOR COMMON STOCK

The Company's common stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "HHGP". On December 31, 2005, there were approximately 1,295 holders of record of the Company's common stock.

The following is a list by fiscal quarter of the market prices of the stock.

	Marke	t Price
2005	High	Low
Fourth quarter	\$ 28.32	\$ 17.28
Third quarter	\$ 25.80	\$ 15.36
Second quarter	\$ 17.35	\$ 13.21
First quarter	\$ 17.84	\$ 13.10
2004		
Fourth quarter	\$ 15.00	\$ 13.065
Third quarter	\$ 15.89	\$ 12.535
Second quarter	\$ 16.205	\$ 12.945
First quarter	\$ 14.13	\$ 10.995

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we currently do not intend to declare and pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any payment of cash dividends will depend upon our financial condition, capital requirements, earnings and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. In addition, the terms of our credit facility prohibit us from paying dividends and making other distributions.

### ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

During the quarter ended December 31, 2005, the Company made no repurchases of its equity securities.

#### ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table shows selected financial data of the Company and has been derived from, and should be read together with, the consolidated financial statements and corresponding notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," included in Items 7 and 8 of this Form 10-K. The Company's consolidated financial statements prior to the Distribution reflect the historical financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the HH Group businesses transferred to the Company from Monster as part of the Distribution. The selected financial information included herein for periods prior to the Distribution may not necessarily be indicative of the future performance of the Company as an independent company. The consolidated financial data as of and for the two years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 are derived from HH Group audited financial statements.

	Year ended December 31,									
		2005	_	2004		2003		2002		2001
	(dollars in thousands, except per share data)									
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS:										
Revenue	\$	1,428,276	\$	1,256,354	\$	1,085,299	\$	1,065,439	\$	1,287,798
Direct costs		891,345		786,134		682,270		653,569		716,262
Gross margin		536,931		470,220		403,029		411,870		571,536
Salaries and related, office and general, and marketing and promotion		507,184		469,214		463,108		431,615		523,273
Business reorganization expenses		233		3,361		26,823		73,543		_
Merger and integration expenses (recoveries)		(70)		736		2,663		5,373		43,177
Goodwill impairment charge						202,785				
EBITDA (loss) (a)		29,584		(3,091)		(292,350)		(98,661)		5,086
Depreciation and amortization	_	18,412	_	20,108	_	21,299	_	21,061	_	33,290
Operating income (loss)	\$	11,172	\$	(23,199)	\$	(313,649)	\$	(119,722)	\$	(28,204)
Income (loss) before accounting change	\$	5,313	\$	(26,775)	\$	(328,812)	\$	(119,251)	\$	(34,195)
Net income (loss)	\$	5,313	\$	(26,775)	\$	(328,812)	\$	(412,251)	\$	(34,195)
Basic income (loss) per share before accounting change (b)	\$	0.24	\$	(1.38)	\$	(19.58)	\$	(7.14)	\$	(2.08)
Basic net income (loss) per share (b)	\$	0.24	\$	(1.38)	\$	(19.58)	\$	(24.69)	\$	(2.08)
Diluted income (loss) per share before accounting change (b)	\$	0.22	\$	(1.38)	\$	(19.58)	\$	(7.14)	\$	(2.08)
Diluted net income (loss) per share (b)	\$	0.22	\$	(1.38)	\$	(19.58)	\$	(24.69)	\$	(2.08)
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA:										
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$	(26,298)	\$	(30,895)	\$	(42,629)	\$	(110,834)	\$	11,416
Net cash used in investing activities	\$	(35,715)	\$	(10,128)	\$	(11,390)	\$	(16, 589)	\$	(118,785)
Net cash provided by financing activities	\$	75,857	\$	35,278	\$	49,465	\$	112,054	\$	103,115
					As of	December 31	,			
		2005		2004		2003		2002		2001
BALANCE SHEET DATA:										
Current assets	\$	280,519	\$	232,833	\$	198,416	\$	215,916	\$	246,248
Total assets	\$	348,416	\$	281,378	\$	250,924	\$	467,104	\$	765,986
Current liabilities	\$	202,760	\$	182,794	\$	158,821	\$	133,714	\$	232,080
Long-term debt, less current portion	\$	478	\$	2,041	\$	302	\$	1,184	\$	2,917
Total stockholders' equity	\$	133,097	\$	83,734	\$	69,361	\$	316,574	\$	522,680

(a) Non-GAAP earnings before interest, income taxes, other non-operating expense, and depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") are presented to provide additional information to investors about the Company's operations on a basis consistent with the measures which the Company uses to manage its operations and evaluate its performance. Management also uses this measurement to evaluate capital needs and working capital requirements. EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for operating income, cash flows from operating activities, and other income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or as a measure of the Company's profitability or liquidity. Furthermore, EBITDA as presented above may not be comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other companies. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further EBITDA seement and reconciliation.

other companies. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further EBITDA segment and reconciliation information.
 For basic and diluted loss per share amounts for the periods prior to the Company's spin-off from Monster on March 31, 2003, Monster's weighted average number of shares was multiplied by the distribution ratio of one share of HH Group common stock for every thirteen and one-third shares of Monster common stock. Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the Company's net earnings by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. When the effects are not anti-dilutive, diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the Company's net earnings by the weighted average number of shares outstanding and the impact of all dilutive potential common shares, primarily stock options. The dilutive impact of stock options is determined by applying the "treasury stock" method.

#### ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

#### **Executive Overview**

#### Background

We have operated as an independent publicly traded company since April 1, 2003 (the "Distribution Date"), when we were spun-off from Monster Worldwide, Inc. ("Monster"). At the Distribution Date, we were the combination of 67 acquisitions (the "Constituent Companies") made between 1999 and 2002, which became the eResourcing and Executive Search divisions ("HH Group") of Monster. Our businesses are specialized professional staffing, retained executive search and talent management solutions services, which operate in over 20 countries around the world, with our largest operations being in the U.S., the U.K. and Australia. We are organized into four reportable segments, the three Hudson regional businesses of Hudson Americas, Hudson Europe and Hudson Asia Pacific, and Highland Partners ("Highland"), which constituted approximately 21%, 38%, 30% and 11% of the Company's gross margin, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2005. For the periods presented in this Form 10-K before the Distribution Date, these businesses were conducted by Monster through the Constituent Companies at Monster's historical cost. Our management's primary focus since the spin-off has been to move the Company to profitability which was achieved in 2005. The primary focus now is to improve profitability. All three Hudson regional businesses reported operating income in every quarter since the first quarter of 2004 and Highland reported operating income in all quarters of 2005.

#### **Strategic Actions**

With the focus of our management being to continue the Company's recent profitability, we are continuing with several initiatives in 2005 and 2006 to meet our long-term strategic goals.

- Continue to focus on high-margin, high-growth service lines in professional service practices and sectors, and exit low margin operations.
- Increase the portion of our revenues attributable to temporary contracting in higher margin specializations to offset the volatility inherent in permanent recruitment. On August 17, 2005, we completed the purchase of Balance Ervaring op Projectbasis B.V. ("Balance"), a leading professional temporary and contract staffing firm in the Netherlands, to advance this strategy in Europe.
- To grow our revenue in the North American market.
- Realign our expense structure and infrastructure costs in various markets including office relocations and closures, and management staff reductions, to better
  match our business mix and improve the potential profitability of those operations.
- Continue to reposition our Highland business as a global boutique. The strategic direction that we are following with our Highland businesses is to become an executive search boutique with global capabilities, operating at the highest end of the executive search market with a limited number of highly experienced partners. In the second quarter of 2005, part of our Australian operation split off as an independent brand licensee.
- To strengthen our capital structure, in July 2005, we issued 3,223,640 shares of our common stock in a registered public offering and received \$45 million in
  net proceeds from the issuance. We have used and plan to continue to use the proceeds to fund the growth of worldwide staffing operations, make acquisitions
  (such as the completed purchase of Balance) and for general corporate purposes. Also in June 2005, we increased the maximum borrowing level allowed under
  our credit agreement to \$75 million and extended the maturity date of the credit agreement to March 31, 2009.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Items Affecting Comparability**

Financial reporting relies on consistent application of company accounting policies that are based on generally accepted accounting principles. Management considers the accounting policies discussed below to be critical to understand the Company's financial statements and often require management judgment and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.

#### **Revenue Recognition**

Although the Company's revenue recognition policy involves a relatively low level of uncertainty, it does require judgment on complex matters that is subject to multiple sources of authoritative guidance.

Hudson Regional businesses. The Company recognizes revenue for temporary services at the time services are provided and revenue is recorded on a time and materials basis. Temporary contracting revenue is reported gross when the Company acts as principal in the transaction and is at risk for collection. Revenue that does not meet the criteria for gross revenue reporting is reported on a net basis. Revenue generated when the Company permanently places an individual with a client on a contingent basis is recorded at the time of acceptance of employment, net of an allowance for estimated fee reversals. Revenue generated when the Company permanently places are rendered, net of an allowance for estimated fee reversals.

*Highland*. Substantially all professional fee revenue is derived from fees for professional services related to executive recruitment, consulting and related services performed on a retained basis. Fee revenue is generally one-third of the estimated first year compensation and reimbursed expenses, plus a percentage of the fee to cover indirect expenses. Fee revenue from executive recruitment is recognized when such services are earned. The Company generally bills clients in three monthly installments. Fees earned in excess of the initial contract amount are recognized at completion of the engagement. Reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses are included in revenue.

#### Accounts Receivable

The Company's accounts receivable balances are composed of trade and unbilled receivables. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts and makes ongoing estimates as to the collectibility of the various receivables. If the Company determines that the allowance for doubtful accounts is not adequate to cover estimated losses, an expense to provide for doubtful accounts is recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. If an account is determined to be uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Management's assessment and judgment are vital requirements in assessing the ultimate realization of these receivables, including the current credit-worthiness, financial stability and effect of market conditions on each customer.

#### **Income Taxes**

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "*Accounting for Income Taxes*." Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, net operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards, and tax contingencies. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to the extent that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. At December 31, 2005, the Company has a valuation allowance against substantially all of its deferred tax assets.

#### Contingencies

The Company is subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to labor, service and other matters. The Company is required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters

as well as potential ranges of probable losses. The Company makes a determination of the amount of reserves required, if any, for these contingencies after careful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in approach, such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters.

#### Intangibles

Intangibles represent acquisition costs in excess of the fair value of net tangible assets of businesses purchased and consist primarily of client lists, trademarks and goodwill. With the exception of goodwill, these costs are being amortized over periods ranging from three to five years on a straight-line basis or on an accelerated basis where appropriate. The Company evaluates its goodwill annually for impairment, or earlier if indicators of potential impairment exist.

#### **Business Reorganization and Merger and Integration Plans**

The Company has recorded significant charges and accruals in connection with its business reorganization, merger and integration plans. These reserves include estimates pertaining to employee separation costs and the settlement of contractual obligations resulting from its actions. Although the Company does not anticipate significant changes, the actual costs may differ from these estimates.

#### **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth the Company's revenue, gross margins, operating income (loss), net income (loss), temporary contracting revenue, direct costs of temporary contracting and temporary contracting gross margin for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands). See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for EBITDA segment and reconciliation information.

		or the Year ended December 3	,
D	2005	2004	2003
Revenue: Hudson Americas	\$ 446,949	\$ 334,765	\$ 278,935
Hudson Furge	5 440,949 481,623	\$ 334,705 447,483	5 278,935 364,766
Hudson Asia Pacific	436,877	447,405	377,555
Highland	62,827	61,679	64,043
Total	\$1,428,276	\$1,256,354	\$1,085,299
Gross margin:	<i><b>1</b></i> ,420,270	\$1,230,33 <del>4</del>	\$1,005,255
Hudson Americas	\$ 114,414	\$ 86,662	\$ 65,220
Hudson Europe	5 114,414 204,439	182,069	\$ 05,220 154,632
Hudson Asia Pacific	158,345	143,360	122,840
	59,733		60,337
Highland		58,129	
Total	<u>\$ 536,931</u>	\$ 470,220	\$ 403,029
Operating income (loss):			
Hudson Americas	\$ 8,693	\$ (964)	\$ (73,456)
Hudson Europe	11,435	(4,476)	(158,514
Hudson Asia Pacific	24,054	17,648	(14,685
Highland	3,098	(1,874)	(34,956)
Corporate expenses	(36,108)	(33,533)	(32,038)
Total	\$ 11,172	\$ (23,199)	\$ (313,649)
Net income (loss)	\$ 5,313	\$ (26,775)	\$ (328,812)
TEMPORARY CONTRACTING DATA (a):			
Temporary contracting revenue:			
Hudson Americas	\$ 419,506	\$ 316,091	\$ 267,473
Hudson Europe	295,750	265,279	217,874
Hudson Asia Pacific	318,918	305,601	290,327
Total	\$1,034,174	\$ 886,971	\$ 775,674
Direct costs of temporary contracting:			
Hudson Americas	\$ 331,781	\$ 247,870	\$ 213,996
Hudson Europe	248,692	227,887	184,843
Hudson Asia Pacific	267,399	257,029	245,172
Total	\$ 847,872	\$ 732,786	\$ 644,011
Temporary contracting gross margin:			
Hudson Americas	\$ 87,725	\$ 68,221	\$ 53,477
Hudson Europe	47,058	37,392	33,031
Hudson Asia Pacific	51,519	48,572	45,155
Total	\$ 186,302	\$ 154,185	\$ 131,663
Gross margin as a percent of revenue:			
Hudson Americas	20.9%	21.6%	20.09
Hudson Europe	15.9%	14.1%	15.29
Hudson Asia Pacific	16.2%	15.9%	15.69

(a) Temporary contracting revenue is a component of Hudson revenue. Temporary contracting gross margin and gross margin as a percent of revenue are shown to provide additional information on the Company's ability to manage its cost structure and provide further comparability relative to the Company's peers. Temporary contracting gross margin is derived by deducting the direct costs of temporary contracting from temporary contracting revenue. The Company's calculation of gross margin may differ from those of other companies.

#### **Constant Currency**

The Company defines the term "constant currency" to mean that financial data for a period are translated into U.S. Dollars using the same foreign currency exchange rates that were used to translate financial data for the previously reported period. Changes in revenue, direct costs, gross margin and selling, general and administrative expenses include the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Variance analysis usually describes period-to-period variances that are calculated using constant currency as a percentage. The Company's management reviews and analyzes business results in constant currency and believes these results better represent the Company's underlying business trends.

The Company believes that these calculations are a useful measure, indicating the actual change in operations. Earnings from subsidiaries are rarely repatriated to the United States, and there are not significant gains or losses on foreign currency transactions between subsidiaries. Therefore, changes in foreign currency exchange rates generally impact only reported earnings and not the Company's economic condition (dollars in thousands).

#### The Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2004

		For the year ended December 31,					
		2005				2004	
	As repo		Currency anslation		Constant currency	4	As reported
Revenue:					<u></u>		
Hudson Americas	\$ 446	5,949 \$	142	\$	447,091	\$	334,765
Hudson Europe	481	1,623	1,616		483,239		447,483
Hudson Asia Pacific	436	5,877	(17,177)		419,700		412,427
Highland revenue	62	2,827	(627)		62,200		61,679
Total	\$ 1,428	3,276 \$	(16,046)	\$	1,412,230	\$	1,256,354
Direct costs:						_	
Hudson Americas	\$ 332	2,535 \$	297	\$	332,832	\$	248,103
Hudson Europe	277	7,184	1,324		278,508		265,414
Hudson Asia Pacific	278	3,532	(11,379)		267,153		269,067
Highland	3	3,094	(358)		2,736		3,550
Total	\$ 891	1,345 \$	(10,116)	\$	881,229	\$	786,134
Gross margin:						_	
Hudson Americas	\$ 114	4,414 \$	(155)	\$	114,259	\$	86,662
Hudson Europe	204	1,439	292		204,731		182,069
Hudson Asia Pacific	158	3,345	(5,798)		152,547		143,360
Highland	59	9,733	(269)		59,464		58,129
Total	\$ 536	5,931 \$	(5,930)	\$	531,001	\$	470,220
Selling, general and administrative (a):							
Hudson Americas	\$ 105	5,246 \$	(164)	\$	105,082	\$	86,688
Hudson Europe	193	3,046	549		193,595		185,873
Hudson Asia Pacific	134	4,283	(4,543)		129,740		126,165
Highland	56	5,913	(222)		56,691		57,063
Corporate	36	5,108			36,108		33,533
Total	\$ 525	5,596 \$	(4,380)	\$	521,216	\$	489,322

(a) Selling, general and administrative expenses include the Consolidated Statements of Operations' captions: salaries and related, office and general, marketing and promotion, and depreciation and amortization.

#### **Hudson Americas**

Hudson Americas' revenue was \$446.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, up 33.5% from \$334.8 million for the same period of 2004. Revenues increased in both the temporary contracting services (+32.7%) and permanent placement services (+43.0%). The largest contributors to the revenue growth were the practice groups of Legal (+75%), Accounting & Finance (+83%), and Engineering, Aerospace & Defense (+92%). Accounting & Finance experienced a decline in work related to Sarbanes-Oxley in 2005, but these reductions were offset by increases in the risk management, internal audit and general financial solutions practices.

Hudson Americas' direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$332.5 million compared to \$248.1 million for 2004, an increase of 34.0%. The increase in the direct costs relates to the 32.7% increase in Hudson Americas' temporary contracting revenue compared to 2004. On a constant currency basis, direct costs increased 34.2% for 2005 in comparison to 2004.

Hudson Americas' gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$114.4 million, higher by \$27.7 million, or 32.0%, from \$86.7 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2004. On a constant currency basis, gross margin increased by 31.8% for the year ended December 31, 2005 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2004. The largest contributors to the increase in gross margin were Legal (+53%), Accounting & Finance (+74%), Engineering, Aerospace & Defense (+94%), Management Search (+46%), and Energy, Operations & Scientific Resources (+21%) practice groups. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was 25.6%, for 2005, a decrease from 25.9% for 2004, primarily as a result of a 0.7% decrease in the temporary contracting gross margin as a percent of temporary contracting revenue.

Hudson Americas' selling, general and administrative costs were \$105.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, higher by 21.4% from \$86.7 million for the same period in 2004. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 23.5% and 25.8% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in selling, general and administrative costs was due to increases in sales and delivery compensation and commission expenses (\$12.7 million), provisions for doubtful accounts (\$3.4 million) and occupancy expenses (\$1.4 million).

Hudson Americas EBITDA was \$13.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of \$9.6 million compared to \$4.3 million for the comparable period of 2004. Hudson North America's 2005 EBITDA of \$17.5 million was \$7.7 million higher than the comparable period in 2004 showing a continuation of the improvements made in 2004 and the expansion of permanent placement and temporary contracting in the Legal (+73%), Accounting & Finance (+327%), Engineering, Aerospace & Defense (+531%) and Management Search (+359%) practice groups, as well as lower growth but profitable operations for the IT, Workforce Solutions and Energy, Operations & Scientific Resources practice groups. The Hudson Americas' talent management business ("Hudson Development") reduced its EBITDA loss to \$3.6 million in 2005 compared to \$5.4 million for the comparable period in 2004. In line with management's focus on sustainable profits, EBITDA as a percentage of revenue increased to 3.1% in 2005 from 1.3% for 2004.

Hudson Americas' operating income was \$8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to a loss of \$1.0 million for the same period of 2004. Hudson Americas' 2005 improvement in operating income was essentially due to the same factors as discussed with respect to EBITDA.

#### Hudson Europe

Hudson Europe's revenue was \$481.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, up 7.6% from \$447.5 million for the same period of 2004. On a constant currency basis, Hudson Europe's revenue increased approximately 8.0% comparing 2005 to 2004, with 3.3% of the increase attributable to revenue from the acquisition of Balance. The largest constant currency revenue increases were achieved from increased revenue in temporary contracting services (+12.2%) primarily from the U.K. and the Balance acquisition.

Hudson Europe's direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$277.2 million, an increase of \$11.8 million or 4.4% compared to \$265.4 million for the same period of 2004. On a constant currency basis, direct costs increased 4.9% for 2005 in comparison to 2004, of which 3.7% of the increase was from the inclusion of Balance since the date of acquisition.

Hudson Europe's gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$204.4 million, higher by \$22.4 million, or 12.3%, from the comparable period in 2004. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was 42.4%, for 2005, an increase from 40.7% for 2004, primarily due to the reduction in lower margin business. On a constant currency basis, gross margin increased by 12.4% for the year ended December 31, 2005 when compared to the same period in 2004. The largest constant currency increases in Hudson Europe's gross margin came from the U.K. (\$10.3 million) and the acquisition of Balance (\$5.1 million), which has been included in our results since its acquisition date in August 2005. On a constant currency basis, fourth quarter 2005 gross margin increased 7.9%, of which Balance contributed approximately 7% of the growth.

Hudson Europe's selling, general and administrative costs were \$193.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, higher by 3.9% from \$185.9 million for the same period in 2004. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 40.1% and 41.5% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2005 and 2004, respectively. On a constant currency basis, the 2005 selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 4.2%, compared to 2004.

Hudson Europe's EBITDA was \$16.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of \$15.9 million compared to \$0.3 million for the same period in 2004. The largest EBITDA contributor in Hudson Europe was Hudson U.K., with additional contributions from Belgium and from improvements in France, the Netherlands and Spain. In line with management's focus on sustainable profits, EBITDA as a percentage of revenue increased to 3.4% in 2005 from less than 0.1% for 2004.

Hudson Europe's operating income was \$11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to a loss of \$4.5 million for the same period of 2004. Hudson Europe's 2005 improvement in operating results was essentially due to the same factors as discussed with respect to EBITDA.

#### Hudson Asia Pacific

Hudson Asia Pacific's revenue was \$436.9 million for year ended December 31, 2005, up 5.9% from \$412.4 million for the same period of 2004. On a constant currency basis, Hudson Asia Pacific's revenue increased approximately 1.8% comparing 2005 to 2004. The largest constant currency revenue increases were achieved in the Asian region from permanent placement services (+34.3%). However, Australia's 2005 revenue on a constant currency basis decreased by 0.8% compared to the same period in 2004. The lower revenue on a constant currency basis is predominantly due to a decrease in revenue from temporary placement services (-1.1%), offset by a modest increase in permanent placement revenue (+5.6%). Hudson Asia Pacific's revenue declined in the fourth quarter of 2005 by \$5.5 million on a constant currency basis compared to the same period in 2004, as a result of hiring freezes and slowing demand in Australia and New Zealand in the IT, Telecom and Financial Services sectors.

Hudson Asia Pacific's direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$278.5 million, an increase of \$9.5 million or 3.5% compared to \$269.1 million for 2004. The increase in the direct costs in 2005 directly relates to the 4.4% increase in temporary contracting revenue compared to 2004. On a constant currency basis, direct costs decreased 0.7% for 2005 in comparison to 2004.

Hudson Asia Pacific's gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$158.3 million, higher by \$15.0 million, or 10.5%, from \$143.4 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2004. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was 36.2% for 2005, an increase from 34.8% for 2004, primarily due to higher gross margin from permanent placement and higher margin percentages from the temporary contracting and talent management businesses. On a constant currency basis, gross margin increased by 6.4% for the year ended December 31, 2005 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2004.

Hudson Asia Pacific's selling general and administrative costs were \$134.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, higher by 6.4% from \$126.2 million for the same period in 2004. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 30.7% and 30.6% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2005 and 2004, respectively. On a constant currency basis, the 2005 selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 2.8%, compared to 2004.

Hudson Asia Pacific's EBITDA was \$30.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of 28.3% or \$6.8 million from \$23.8 million for the same period of 2004. The increase was primarily in Australia, New Zealand, Hong Kong and Singapore, with a decline in Japan. Hudson Asia Pacific's 2005 improvement in EBITDA occurred in the first nine months of 2005, as EBITDA decreased \$2.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2005, primarily in Australia, New Zealand and Japan, compared to the same period of 2004. These declines were primarily a result of hiring freezes and slowing demand in Australia and New Zealand in the IT, Telecom and Financial Services sectors.

Hudson Asia Pacific's operating income was \$24.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of 36.3% or \$6.4 million from \$17.6 million for the same period of 2004. Hudson Asia Pacific's 2005 improvement in operating results was primarily due to the same factors as discussed in EBITDA.

#### Highland

Highland's revenue of \$62.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased 1.9% from \$61.7 million from 2004. On a constant currency basis, Highland revenue increased 0.8% comparing 2005 results with 2004, reflecting growth in Highland U.K. (+70.1%) and modest growth in Highland North America (+5.8%), offset by a decrease in Highland Australia (-59.7%) as a result of the split off of part of that business as an independent brand licensee during the second quarter of 2005.

Highland's direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$3.1 million compared to \$3.6 million for 2004. The lower direct costs were the result of lower reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses. On a constant currency basis, direct costs decreased 22.9% for 2005 in comparison to 2004.

Highland's gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$59.7 million, higher by \$1.6 million, or 2.8%, from \$58.1 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2004. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was 95.1%, for 2005, an increase from 94.2% for 2004. On a constant currency basis, gross margin increased by 2.3% for the year ended December 31, 2005 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2004.

Highland's selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$56.9 million on a reported basis and \$56.7 million in constant currency, essentially unchanged when compared with \$57.1 million for the same period of 2004. Selling general and administrative expenses, on a constant currency basis, were 91.1% and 92.5% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Highland's EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$4.5 million, higher by \$4.6 million from a loss of \$0.1 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase is the result of improved results in Highland North America (\$4.4 million), Highland U.K. (\$1.6 million) and the absence of losses in continental Europe (\$0.4 million), offset by the decline of \$2.0 million in Highland Australia to a loss of \$0.9 million.

Highland's operating income was \$3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to a loss of \$1.9 million for the comparable period in 2004. Highland's 2005 improvement in operating results was primarily due to the same factors as discussed in EBITDA.

#### Corporate and Other

Corporate expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$36.1 million compared to \$33.5 million for 2004. The corporate expenses in 2005 increased primarily as a result of higher compensation expense, partially offset by lower marketing, depreciation and professional fee expenses.

Other non-operating expense, including net interest expense, was \$0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, lower by \$1.1 million when compared to \$1.9 million for the same period of 2004. Non-operating expense was lower due to the inclusion in 2004 of the loss on abandonment of Hudson Europe's German subsidiary and higher foreign currency transactional gains in 2005, offset by higher interest expense in 2005.

The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$5.0 million on a pretax income of \$10.4 million, compared with a provision of \$1.6 million on a pretax loss of \$25.1 million for the same period of 2004. The change in the company's tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to the same period in 2004, was primarily due to increased profits in the Asia Pacific region in countries where there are no tax loss carryforwards to offset taxable income. The effective tax rate differs from the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 35% due to the inability to recognize tax benefits on net US losses, primarily corporate expenses, partially offset by the release of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets related to net operating loss carryforwards in tax jurisdictions where profits are now being generated. Other factors also include certain non-deductible expenses such as amortization, business restructuring and spin-off costs and merger costs from pooling of interests transactions, asset impairment charges, and variations from the U.S. tax rate in foreign jurisdictions.

Net income was \$5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to a net loss of \$26.8 million for 2004. Basic earnings per share were \$.24 and diluted earnings per share were \$.22, for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to basic and diluted loss of \$1.38 per share in the year ended December 31, 2004. Basic average shares outstanding increased in 2005 as a result of various employee stock compensation awards that vested or were issued or granted at various times during 2005. For the 2004 period, dilutive earnings per share calculations do not differ from basic earnings per share because the effects of any potential common stock were anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the calculation of dilutive earnings per share.

#### The Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2003

		For the year ended December 31,				
		2004				
	As reported	Currency translation	Constant currency	As reported		
Revenue:		translation	currency			
Hudson Americas	\$ 334,765	\$ 203	\$ 334,968	\$ 278,935		
Hudson Europe	447,483	(46,074)	401,409	364,766		
Hudson Asia Pacific	412,427	(44,507)	367,920	377,555		
Highland	61,679	(2,574)	59,105	64,043		
Total	1,256,354	(92,952)	1,163,402	1,085,299		
Direct costs:						
Hudson Americas	248,103	289	248,392	213,715		
Hudson Europe	265,414	(27,981)	237,433	210,134		
Hudson Asia Pacific	269,067	(30,427)	238,640	254,715		
Highland	3,550	(423)	3,127	3,706		
Total	786,134	(58,542)	727,592	682,270		
Gross margin:						
Hudson Americas	86,662	(86)	86,576	65,220		
Hudson Europe	182,069	(18,093)	163,976	154,632		
Hudson Asia Pacific	143,360	(14,080)	129,280	122,840		
Highland	58,129	(2,151)	55,978	60,337		
Total	\$ 470,220	\$ (34,410)	\$ 435,810	\$ 403,029		
Selling, general and administrative (1):						
Hudson Americas	86,688	(138)	86,550	81,527		
Hudson Europe	185,873	(18,682)	167,191	172,007		
Hudson Asia Pacific	126,165	(13,209)	112,956	121,942		
Highland	57,063	(2,053)	55,010	77,190		
Corporate	33,533		33,533	31,741		
Total	\$ 489,322	\$ (34,082)	\$ 455,240	\$ 484,407		

(1) Selling, general and administrative expenses include the Consolidated Statements of Operations' captions: salaries and related, office and general, marketing and promotion, and depreciation and amortization.

#### Hudson Americas

Hudson Americas' revenue was \$334.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, up 20.0% from \$278.9 million for the same period of 2003. The increase in revenue was from both Hudson North America's temporary services (+18%), especially Legal, Accounting & Finance and IT permanent placement services (+49%).

Hudson Americas' direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 were \$248.1 million compared to \$213.7 million for 2003. The increase was primarily the result of direct costs for temporary contractors.

Hudson Americas' gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$86.7 million, higher by \$21.5 million, or 33%, from \$65.2 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2003. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was 25.9%, for 2004, an increase from 23.4% for 2003.

Hudson Americas' selling general and administrative costs were \$86.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, higher by 6.3% from \$81.5 million for the same period in 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 25.9% and 29.2% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Hudson Americas' operating loss was \$0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to \$73.5 million for the same period of 2003. The decrease in the 2004 operating loss is primarily due to the absence of the 2003 goodwill impairment charge (\$55.4 million), improved operating results in North American businesses, which was partially offset by increased costs associated with the Hudson development groups, Center for High Performance and North American Hudson Talent Management.

#### Hudson Europe

Hudson Europe's revenue was \$447.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, up 22.7% from \$364.8 million for the same period of 2003. On a constant currency basis, Hudson Europe's revenue increased approximately 10% comparing 2004 to 2003. The largest constant currency revenue increases were achieved in Hudson United Kingdom from increased revenue in temporary contracting (+9%) and permanent placement (+27%) businesses, and Hudson Netherlands' higher human resources consulting business (+27%).

Hudson Europe's direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 were \$265.4 million compared to \$209.8 million for 2003. On a constant currency basis, direct costs increased 13.2% for 2004 in comparison to 2003.

Hudson Europe's gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$182.1 million, higher by \$27.4, or 17.7%, from \$154.6 reported for the year ended December 31, 2003. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was 40.7% for 2004, an increase from 42.4% for 2003. On a constant currency basis, gross margin increased by 6.0% for the year ended December 31, 2004 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2003.

Hudson Europe's selling general and administrative costs were \$185.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, higher by 8.0% from \$172.0 million for the same period in 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 41.5% and 47.2% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2004 and 2003, respectively. On a constant currency basis, the 2004 selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 2.8%, compared to 2003.

Hudson Europe's operating loss was \$4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to \$158.5 million for the same period of 2003. The decrease in the 2004 operating loss was primarily due to the absence of the 2003 goodwill impairment charge (\$128.7 million), lower reorganization expenses (\$9.3 million), improved operating results in the United Kingdom business and the absence of losses resulting from the abandonment of the German subsidiary; this was partially offset by the higher losses in France compared to 2003.

#### Hudson Asia Pacific

Hudson Asia Pacific's revenue was \$412.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, up 9.2% from \$377.6 million for the same period of 2003. The increase was achieved due to Hudson Asia's improved permanent placement business (+51%), offset by decreases in Hudson Australia (-6%).

Hudson Asia Pacific's direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 were \$269.1 million compared to \$254.7 million for 2003. On a constant currency basis, direct costs decreased 6.3% for 2004 in comparison to 2003.

Hudson Asia Pacific's gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$143.4 million, higher by \$20.5 million, or 16.7%, from \$122.8 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2003. Gross margin, as a

percentage of revenue, was 34.8%, for 2004, an increase from 32.5% for 2003. On a constant currency basis, gross margin increased by 5.2% for the year ended December 31, 2004 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2003.

Hudson Asia Pacific's selling, general and administrative costs were \$126.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, higher by 3.5% from \$121.9 million for the same period in 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 30.6% and 32.3% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2004 and 2003, respectively. On a constant currency basis, the 2004 selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 7.3%, compared to 2003.

Hudson Asia Pacific's operating income was \$17.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to an operating loss of \$14.7 million for the same period of 2003. The increase in the 2004 operating income is primarily due to the absence of the 2003 goodwill impairment charge (\$11.3 million), lower reorganization expenses (\$4.7 million) and improved operating results in the Australian, Asian and New Zealand businesses.

#### Highland

Highland revenue of \$61.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 was down 3.7% from \$64.0 million for 2003, reflecting the closure of its continental European operations, partially offset by an increase in the Highland Australian business (+93%) and modest growth in Highland North America (+2%). On a constant currency basis, Highland revenue decreased 8% comparing 2004 results with 2003, reflecting essentially the same factors noted previously and a decrease in Highland U.K. (-9%).

Highland's direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 were \$3.5 million compared to \$3.7 million for 2003. On a constant currency basis, direct costs decreased 15.6% for 2004 in comparison to 2003.

Highland's gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$58.1 million, lower by \$2.2 million, or 3.7%, from \$60.3 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2003. Gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, remained unchanged from 2003 to 2004 at 94.2%. On a constant currency basis, gross margin decreased by 7.2% for the year ended December 31, 2004 when compared to the year ended December 31, 2003.

Highland's selling general and administrative costs were \$57.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, lower by 26.0% from \$77.2 million for the same period in 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 92.6% and 120.5% as a percentage of revenue for the full years 2004 and 2003, respectively. On a constant currency basis, the 2004 selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 28.7%, compared to 2003.

Highland's operating loss for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$1.9 million compared to an operating loss of \$35.0 million for 2003. The 2004 loss was lower than 2003 as a result of lower business reorganization expenses (\$8.5 million), the absence of the 2003 goodwill impairment charge in 2004 (\$7.4 million), improved operating results (exclusive of goodwill impairment charges, reorganization expenses, and merger and integration expenses) in Highland North America (\$7.2 million), Highland United Kingdom (\$4.2 million) and Highland Australia (\$1.7 million), and the absence of losses from continental Europe (\$4.6 million), partially offset by higher merger and integration expenses (\$.6 million).

#### Corporate and Other

In the third quarter of 2003, the Company determined that goodwill should be tested for impairment due to current business conditions and changes in circumstances resulting from the Distribution, which established the Company as an independent entity with a separate market capitalization. As a result of this test and the related

fair value examination, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of \$202.8 million in 2003. The impairment valuation was based upon a discounted cash flow approach that used estimated future revenue and costs for each business segment as well as appropriate discount rates. The estimates that were used were consistent with the plans and estimates the Company was using to manage the underlying business. There were no comparable expenses in 2004.

Business reorganization expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled \$3.4 million as compared to \$26.8 million in 2003. The 2004 expenses were additional costs and changes in estimates for the continuation of the process to streamline operations that had been previously announced in 2003 and 2002. In 2004, the primary changes were the result of costs related to the relocation of Highland's Toronto office and costs net of recoveries from certain U.S. and Hudson Australia office leases.

Merger and integration expenses reflect costs incurred as a result of pooling-of-interests transactions completed before June 2001 and the integration plans of such companies. For the year ended December 31, 2004, merger and integration costs were \$.7 million, a reduction of \$1.9 million from the prior year. Merger and integration expenses included lease obligations, office integration costs, and the write-off of fixed assets that will not be used in the future, and severance, professional fees and employee stay bonuses to certain key personnel of the merged companies.

Corporate expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 were \$33.5 million compared to \$32.0 million for 2003, which included an allocation from Monster for the first quarter of 2003. The corporate expenses in 2004 increased primarily as a result of higher professional fees, including costs related to compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requirements, and marketing costs, partially offset by a decline in depreciation expense.

Other non-operating expense, including net interest expense, was \$1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and \$3.1 million for 2003. The expenses for 2004 included write-offs related to the abandonment of Hudson's German subsidiary. The decrease in 2004 expense compared to 2003 was the result of lower losses on sale and disposition of assets in 2004 (\$2.4 million), partially offset by the absence in 2004 of miscellaneous income from the settlement of a prior claim (\$1.2 million).

The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$1.6 million on a pretax loss of \$25.1 million, compared with a provision of \$12.0 million on a pretax loss of \$316.8 million for the same period of 2003. The change in the Company's tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to the same period in 2003 was primarily due to establishment of a valuation allowance in 2003 on certain foreign tax losses, the benefit of which may not be realizable, and the inability of the Company to realize benefits from its current losses in businesses where the future earnings ability to utilize those losses is not certain. Additionally, in 2004 the Company became a current taxpayer on certain income earned in the Asia Pacific region. In each period, the effective tax rate differs from the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 35% due to valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, net operating losses retained or utilized by Monster, certain non-deductible expenses such as amortization, business restructuring and spin-off costs, merger costs from pooling of interests transactions, asset impairment charges, and variations from the U.S. tax rate in foreign jurisdictions.

Net loss was \$26.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared with a loss of \$328.8 million for 2003. Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2004 was a loss of \$1.38 per share, compared to a loss of \$19.58 per share in the year ended December 31, 2003. Basic average shares outstanding increased in 2004 as a result of the issuance of shares from a registered public offering in March 2004, a stock acquisition completed in June 2004 and various employee stock compensation awards that vested or were issued or granted at various time during 2004. For the 2004 and 2003 periods, dilutive earnings per share calculations did not differ from basic earnings per share because the effects of any potential common stock were anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the calculation of dilutive earnings per share.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's liquidity needs arise primarily from funding working capital requirements and capital investment in information technology.

The Company filed a shelf registration on October 6, 2004 to enable it to issue up to 1,350,000 shares of its common stock from time to time in connection with acquisitions of businesses, assets or securities of other companies, whether by purchase, merger or any other form of acquisition or business combination. If any shares are issued using this shelf registration, the Company will not receive any proceeds from these offerings other than the assets, businesses or securities acquired. This shelf filing is still outstanding.

On July 6, 2005, the Company issued 3,223,640 shares of its common stock in a registered public offering and received \$45.0 million in net proceeds from the issuance. The Company has used and plans to continue to use the proceeds from the offering to fund the growth of worldwide staffing operations, make acquisitions and for general corporate purposes.

The Company has a senior secured credit facility for \$75.0 million (the "Credit Facility"). The maturity date of the Credit Facility is March 31, 2009. Outstanding loans will bear interest equal to the prime rate plus 0.25% or LIBOR plus 2.00%, at the Company's option and had a weighted average interest rate of 6.49% as of December 31, 2005. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and extensions of credit will be based on a percentage of the accounts receivable of the Company. The Company expects to use such credit, if and when required, to support its ongoing working capital requirements, capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and to support letters of credit. As of December 31, 2005, the credit limit on the Credit Facility was \$75 million. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding borrowings of \$30.1 million and letters of credit issued and outstanding of approximately \$15.5 million under the Credit Facility. Available credit for use under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2005 was \$29.4 million. Letters of credit are used to support certain of the Company's office leases, the worker's compensation policy and its finance leases.

The Credit Facility contains various restrictions and covenants, including (1) prohibitions on payments of dividends and repurchases of the Company's stock; (2) requirements that the Company maintain its minimum Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Facility) and capital expenditures within prescribed levels; (3) restrictions on the ability of the Company to make additional borrowings, or to consolidate, merge or otherwise fundamentally change the ownership of the Company; and (4) limitations on investments, dispositions of assets and guarantees of indebtedness. On March 9, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment to the Credit Facility that established minimum Adjusted EBITDA (measured on a trailing twelve-month basis) and maximum capital expenditure covenant levels for fiscal year 2006. The minimum Adjusted EBITDA covenant generally provides that the Company's Adjusted EBITDA for the trailing twelve-month periods ending March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2006 may not be less than \$15.0 million, \$15.0 million. \$25.0 million and \$25.0 million, respectively. The maximum capital expenditure covenant provides that the Company's capital expenditures for 2006 may not exceed \$14.0 million. These restrictions and covenants could limit the Company's ability to respond to market conditions, to provide for unanticipated capital investments, to raise additional debt or equity capital, to pay dividends or to take advantage of business opportunities, including future acquisitions.

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company used cash in operating activities of \$26.3 million and \$30.9 million, respectively. Cash usage for operating activities decreased in 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of an increase in net income (\$32.1 million) and lower payments related to the legacy reorganization and merger plans (\$3.8 million), partially offset by higher usage to fund higher levels of accounts receivable (\$12.9 million), primarily related to billing issues and growth in the Hudson North American business, and lower benefits from other working capital liabilities and other assets.

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company used cash in investing activities of \$35.7 million and \$10.1 million, respectively. This use of cash was primarily related to capital expenditures in

the normal course of operations and payments related to business acquisitions. The increased use of cash in 2005 compared to 2004 was the result of higher payments related to purchases of businesses, primarily Balance, in 2005 (\$25.4 million).

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company generated cash from financing activities of \$75.9 million and \$35.3 million, respectively. The cash provided from financing activities was higher in 2005 compared to 2004, as a result of a net increase in borrowings under the credit facility (\$30.1 million) and higher proceeds from the 2005 stock issuance compared to the 2004 stock issuance (\$17.0 million).

The Company believes that the cash and cash equivalents on hand at December 31, 2005, supplemented by availability under the Credit Facility, will provide it with sufficient liquidity to satisfy its working capital needs, capital expenditures, investment requirements and commitments through at least the next twelve months.

#### **Future Capital Requirements**

The Company's near-term cash requirements are primarily related to funding operations, a portion of prior year restructuring actions and capital expenditures. However, the Company cannot provide assurance that actual cash requirements will not be greater in the future from those currently expected. If sources of liquidity are not available or if the Company cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations, the Company might be required to obtain additional sources of funds through additional operating improvements, capital market transactions, asset sales or financing from third parties, or a combination thereof. The Company cannot provide assurance that these additional sources of funds will be available or, if available, would have reasonable terms.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements.

*Contractual Obligations.* The Company has entered into various commitments that will affect its cash generation capabilities going forward. Particularly, it has entered into several non-cancelable operating leases for facilities and equipment worldwide. Future contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (dollars in thousands) (commitments based in currencies other than U.S. dollars were translated using exchange rates as of December 31, 2005):

Contractual Obligation (a)	Less t	han 1 year	1 to 3 years	<u>3 to 5</u>	years	Mo	re than 5 years	Total
Operating lease obligations	\$	32,667	\$ 51,730	\$ 37	,873	\$	74,398	\$196,668
Capital lease obligations (b)		2,471	478		—		—	2,949
Other long term liabilities:								
Reorganization expenses		4,223	3,168		927		—	8,318
Merger and integration expenses		1,239	1,378		557		103	3,277
Total	\$	40,600	\$ 56,754	\$ 39	,357	\$	74,501	\$211,212

(a) Other long-term liabilities of \$2,648, primarily related to mandated employee benefit obligations, do not have readily determinable payment periods and are therefore not included in the schedule.

(b) Capital lease obligations presented here exclude the interest portion of the obligation, which is immaterial.

#### **REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS**

This Form 10-K contains statements that the Company believes to be "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Form 10-K, including statements regarding the Company's future financial condition, results of operations, business operations and business prospects, are forward-looking statements. Words such as "anticipate," "estimate," "expect," "project," "intend," "plan," "predict," "believe" and similar words, expressions and variations of these words and expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are subject to important factors, risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including industry and economic conditions that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. Such factors, risks, uncertainties and assumptions include, but are not limited to, (1) the Company's history of negative cash flows and operating losses may continue, (2) the ability of clients to terminate their relationship with the Company at any time, (3) the impact of global economic fluctuations on the Company's temporary contracting operations, (4) restrictions on the Company's operating flexibility due to the terms of its credit facility, (5) risks relating to the Company's foreign operations, including foreign currency fluctuations, (6) risks and financial impact associated with acquisitions; (7) the Company's heavy reliance on information systems and the impact of potentially losing or failing to develop technology, (8) competition in the Company's markets and the Company's dependence on highly skilled professionals, (9) fluctuations in the Company's operating results from quarter to quarter, (10) the impact of employees departing with existing executive search clients, (11) restrictions imposed by blocking arrangements, (12) the Company's exposure to employment-related claims from both clients and employees and limits on related insurance coverage, (13) the Company's dependence on key management personnel and (14) the impact of government regulations. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. The Company assumes no obligation, and expressly disclaims any obligation, to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

#### ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The majority of the Company's long-term borrowings are in fixed rate capital leases for leasehold improvements, computer software and computer equipment. The carrying amounts of long-term debt approximate fair value, generally due to the short-term nature of the underlying instruments. We do not trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company also conducts operations in various foreign countries, including Australia, Belgium, Canada, France, the Netherlands, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company earned approximately 72% of its gross margin outside the United States, and it collected payments in local currency and related operating expenses were paid in such corresponding local currency. Accordingly, the Company is subject to increased risk for exchange rate fluctuations between such local currencies and the U.S. dollar.

The financial statements of the non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using current rates of exchange, with translation gains or losses included in the cumulative translation adjustment account, a component of stockholders' equity. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company had a translation loss of \$6.9 million, primarily attributable to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the British pound, the Euro and the Australian dollar.

The Company's objective is to reduce earnings and cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange rate changes. Accordingly, the Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to minimize the exposure to foreign exchange rate risk related to intercompany loan balances denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. At December 31, 2005, no foreign currency forward contracts were outstanding. The principal currencies hedged during the year ended December 31, 2005 were the Euro, the British pound, and the Australian Dollar.

The Company had no derivative instruments outstanding at December 31, 2005.

<sup>31</sup> 

#### ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

#### Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as December 31, 2005.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company's management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 using the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, the Company's management believes that, as of December 31, 2005, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, BDO Seidman, LLP, has issued an attestation report on management's assessment of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. That attestation report is set forth immediately following the report of BDO Seidman, LLP on the financial statements included herein.

#### **Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

Board of Directors Hudson Highland Group, Inc. New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders' equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management's assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ BDO SEIDMAN, LLP BDO Seidman, LLP New York, New York March 10, 2006

#### **Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

Board of Directors Hudson Highland Group, Inc. New York, New York

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 8, that Hudson Highland Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Management of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Hudson Highland Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the COSO. Also, in our opinion, Hudson Highland Group, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ BDO SEIDMAN, LLP BDO Seidman, LLP New York, New York March 10, 2006

## HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	2005	Year Ended December 2004	<u>31,</u> 2003
Revenue	\$ 1,428,276		\$ 1,085,299
Direct costs (Note 2)	891,345	786,134	682,270
Gross margin	536,931	470,220	403,029
Operating expenses:			
Salaries and related	375,519	347,245	318,070
Office and general	112,684	101,318	122,081
Marketing and promotion	18,981	20,651	22,957
Depreciation and amortization	18,412	20,108	21,299
Business reorganization expenses	233	3,361	26,823
Merger and integration (recoveries) expenses	(70)	) 736	2,663
Goodwill impairment charge			202,785
Total operating expenses	525,759	493,419	716,678
Operating income (loss)	11,172	(23,199)	(313,649)
Other income (expense):			
Interest, net	(1,852)	) (104)	(283)
Other, net	1,029	(1,834)	(2,859)
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	10,349	(25,137)	(316,791)
Provision for income taxes	5,036	1,638	12,021
Net income (loss)	\$ 5,313	\$ (26,775)	\$ (328,812)
Income (loss) per share:			
Basic	\$ 0.24	\$ (1.38)	\$ (19.58)
Diluted	\$ 0.22	\$ (1.38)	\$ (19.58)
Weighted average shares outstanding:			
Basic	22,295,000	19,457,000	16,797,000
Diluted	23,674,000	19,457,000	16,797,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

### HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

## (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	Decem	ıber 31,
	2005	2004
ASSETS		
Current assets:	¢ 04100	\$ 21,064
Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$5,488 and \$5,230, respectively	\$ 34,108 232,081	\$ 21,064 197,582
Prepaid and other	14,330	14,187
1		
Total current assets	280,519 31,438	232,833 36,360
Property and equipment, net Intangibles, net	31,438	6,104
Other assets	5,359	6,081
Total assets	\$ 348,416	\$ 281,378
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 24,718	\$ 27,023
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	140,036	140,903
Credit facility and current portion of long-term debt	32,544	4,066
Accrued business reorganization expenses	4,223	8,930
Accrued merger and integration expenses	1,239	1,872
Total current liabilities	202,760	182,794
Accrued business reorganization expenses, non-current	4,095	6,832
Accrued merger and integration expenses, non-current	2,038	3,329
Other long-term liabilities	5,948	2,648
Long-term debt, less current portion	478	2,041
Total liabilities	215,319	197,644
Commitments and contingencies		
Stockholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding	—	
Common stock, \$0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; issued 24,340,462 and 20,612,966 shares, respectively	24	21
Additional paid-in capital	404,755	353,825
Accumulated deficit	(306,263)	(311,576)
Accumulated other comprehensive income—translation adjustments	34,811	41,694
Treasury stock, 15,798 and 15,798 shares, respectively	(230)	(230)
Total stockholders' equity	133,097	83,734
	\$ 348,416	\$ 281,378

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

	Y	Year Ended December 31		
	2005	2004	2003	
Cash flows from operating activities:		•••		
Net income (loss)	\$ 5,313	\$(26,775)	\$(328,812)	
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization	18,412	20,108	21,299	
(Recovery of) provision for doubtful accounts	2,233	(683)	13,482	
Provision for (benefit from) deferred income taxes	1,021	(1,424)	11,082	
Compensation charge on restricted stock issuance	795	971	467	
Net (gain) loss on disposal of assets	(559)	1,330	3,962	
Goodwill impairment charge	—	—	202,785	
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of business acquisitions:				
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net	(51,974)	(39,054)	21,003	
(Increase) decrease in other assets	(2,313)	9,700	2,260	
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities	9,113	17,083	13,734	
Decrease in accrued business reorganization expenses	(6,688)	(9,900)	(1,404)	
Decrease in accrued merger and integration expenses	(1,651)	(2,251)	(2,487)	
Total adjustments	(31,611)	(4,120)	286,183	
Net cash used in operating activities	(26,298)	(30,895)	(42,629)	
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Capital expenditures	(9,933)	(9,735)	(10,710)	
Payments for acquisitions and intangible assets, net of cash acquired	(25,782)	(393)	(680)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(35,715)	(10,128)	(11,390)	
Cash flows from financing activities:				
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	44,961	27,919		
Borrowings under credit facility	355,644	19,550	_	
Repayments under credit facility	(325,571)	(19,550)		
Net payments on long-term debt	(2,791)	(1,407)	(1,166)	
Issuance of common stock—Long Term Incentive Plan option exercises	1,472	1,790	_	
Issuance of common stock—employee stock purchase plans	2,142	1,688	1,302	
Payments received from Monster		5,518	8,012	
Purchase of restricted stock from employees		(230)		
Net cash transfers received from Monster, prior to Distribution			41,317	
Net cash provided by financing activities	75,857	35,278	49,465	
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents	(800)	672	4,783	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents			229	
	13,044 21,064	(5,073) 26,137		
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year			25,908	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 34,108	\$ 21,064	\$ 26,137	

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands, except share amounts)

	Common Shares	stock Value	Additional paid-in capital	Treasury stock	Accumulated (deficit) earnings	Divisional equity	Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	Total	com	Total prehensive s) income
Balance January 1, 2003	_	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 291,914	\$ 24,660	\$ 316,574		
Net loss January 1, 2003 to March 31, 2003						(44,011)		(44,011)	\$	(44,011)
Cash transfers from Monster						41,317		41,317		
Non-cash equity contributions from Monster						24,150		24,150		
Transfer of divisional equity to common stock and additional paid-in capital	16,763,216	16	313,354			(313,370)				
Net loss April 1, 2003 to December 31, 2003					(284,801)			(284,801)		(284,801)
Other comprehensive income, translation adjustments							14,363	14,363		14,363
Issuance of shares for employee stock purchase plans	197,554	1	1,301					1,302		
Restricted stock issuance and related compensation charge	184,750		467					467		
Balance December 31, 2003	17,145,520	17	315,122		(284,801)		39,023	69,361	\$	(314,449)
Net loss					(26,775)			(26,775)	\$	(26,775)
Other comprehensive income, translation adjustments							2,671	2,671		2,671
Issuance of shares for 401(k) plan contribution	92,076		1,058					1,058		, i
Issuance of shares from exercise of stock options	252,074	1	1,789					1,790		
Issuance of shares for employee stock purchase plans	159,590		1,688					1,688		
Issuance of shares	2,547,770	2	27,917					27,919		
Purchase of restricted stock from employees	(15,798)			(230)				(230)		
Issuance of shares for acquisition	367,174	1	5,280					5,281		
Restricted stock issuance and related compensation charge	48,762		971					971		
Balance December 31, 2004	20,597,168	21	353,825	(230)	(311,576)		41,694	83,734	\$	(24,104)
Net income					5,313			5,313		5,313
Other comprehensive loss, translation adjustments					0,010		(6,883)	(6,883)		(6,883)
Issuance of shares for 401(k) plan contribution	94,960		1,563				(0,000)	1,563		(0,000)
Issuance of shares from exercise of stock options	187,038		1,472					1,472		
Issuance of shares for employee stock purchase plans	167,583		2,142					2,142		
Issuance of shares	3,223,640	3	44,958					44,961		
Restricted stock issuance and related compensation charge	54,275		795					795		
Balance December 31, 2005	24,324,664	\$ 24	\$ 404,755	\$ (230)	\$ (306,263)	\$ —	\$ 34,811	\$ 133,097	\$	(1,570)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

#### 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

#### **Basis of Presentation**

Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") comprise the operations, assets and liabilities of the three Hudson regional businesses ("Hudson Regional Businesses" or "Hudson regions") and Highland Partners ("Highland"). The Company was historically the combination of 67 acquisitions made between 1999 and 2002, which became the eResourcing and Executive Search divisions ("HH Group") of Monster Worldwide, Inc. ("Monster"), formerly TMP Worldwide, Inc. Some of the Company's constituent businesses have operated for more than 20 years. Immediately prior to the Distribution, Monster transferred substantially all the assets and liabilities of its eResourcing and Executive Search business segments to HH Group. These assets and liabilities are reflected in HH Group's financial statements at Monster's historical cost. On March 31, 2003 (the "Distribution Date"), Monster distributed all of the outstanding shares of the newly named HH Group to its stockholders of record on March 14, 2003 on a basis of one share of HH Group common stock for each thirteen and one-third shares of Monster common stock so held (the "Distribution"). Since the Distribution, the Company has operated as an independent publicly held company, has completed three acquisitions, and reorganized a number of smaller business units after determining that those businesses were not viable profit centers.

The consolidated financial statements have been derived from the financial statements and accounting records of Monster for all periods through the Distribution Date, using the historical results of operations and historical basis of the assets and liabilities of the Company's business. In connection with the Distribution, the intercompany balances due to Monster were contributed by Monster to equity. Accordingly, such balances are reflected as divisional equity for periods prior to March 31, 2003, at which time the amount was reclassified to common stock and additional paid-in capital. Earnings and losses are accumulated in accumulated (deficit) earnings starting April 1, 2003. The terms of the distribution agreement with Monster did not require repayment or distribution of any portion of the divisional equity back to Monster. HH Group's costs and expenses in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for periods prior to March 31, 2003 included allocations from Monster for executive, legal, accounting, treasury, real estate, information technology and other Monster corporate services and infrastructure costs because specific identification of the expenses is not practicable. The total corporate services allocation to HH Group from Monster was \$5,123 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The expense allocation was determined on the basis that Monster and HH Group considered to be reasonable reflections of the utilization of services provided or the benefit received by HH Group using ratios that are primarily based on the Company's revenue, net of direct costs of temporary contractors, compared to Monster as a whole. Monster also allocated to HH Group certain merger and integration expenses and business reorganization expenses of \$137 for the year ended December 31, 2003, which were included in corporate expenses. The financial information included herein prior to March 31, 2003 may not necessarily reflect the financial position and results of operations of the Company in the future or what these amou

#### **Reporting Segments**

The Company is one of the world's largest specialized professional staffing, retained executive search and talent management solutions firms. The Company provides professional staffing services on a permanent, contract and temporary basis, as well as executive search and a range of human capital services to businesses operating in a wide variety of industries. The Company reassessed its reportable segments in the fourth quarter of 2005 and prior period results are presented in conformity with the 2005 presentation. The Company is organized into four reportable segments, the three Hudson regional businesses of Hudson Americas, Hudson Europe, and Hudson Asia Pacific, and Highland, which constituted approximately 21%, 38%, 29% and 11% of the Company's gross margin, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2005.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

*Hudson Regional Businesses.* Hudson's three regions provide temporary and contract personnel and permanent recruitment services to a wide range of clients. With respect to temporary and contract personnel, Hudson focuses on providing candidates with specialized functional skills and competencies, such as accounting and finance, legal and information technology. The length of a temporary assignment can vary, but engagements at the professional level tend to be longer than those in the general clerical or industrial sectors. With respect to permanent recruitment, Hudson focuses on mid-level professionals typically earning between \$50,000 and \$150,000 annually and possessing the professional skills and/or profile required by clients. Hudson provides permanent recruitment services on both a retained and contingent basis. In larger markets, Hudson's sales strategy focuses on both clients operating in particular industry sectors, such as financial services, health care, or technology, and candidates possessing particular professional skills, such as accounting and finance, information technology, legal and human resources. Hudson uses both traditional and interactive methods to select potential candidates for its clients, employing a suite of products that assesses talent and help predict whether a candidate will be successful in a given role.

All of the Hudson regional businesses also provide organizational effectiveness and development services through their Talent Management Solutions units. These services encompass candidate assessment, competency modeling, leadership development, performance management, and career transition. These services enable Hudson to offer clients a comprehensive set of management services, across the entire employment life cycle, from attracting, assessing and selecting best-fit employees to engaging and developing those individuals to help build a high-performance organization. Through the Hudson Center for High Performance (the "Center for High Performance"), the Company also offers leadership solutions designed to assist senior management in enhancing the operating performance of their organizations.

Hudson Americas operates from 48 offices in two countries, with 96% of its 2005 gross margin generated in the United States. Hudson Europe operates from 48 offices in 17 countries, with 58% of its 2005 gross margin coming from the United Kingdom operations. Hudson Asia Pacific operates from 25 offices in 6 countries, with 65% of its 2005 gross margin stemming from Australia.

*Highland.* Highland, an executive search boutique with global reach, offers a comprehensive range of executive search services on a retained basis aimed exclusively at recruiting senior level executives. Highland also has a specialized practice that assists clients desiring to enhance their boards of directors.

Highland approaches the market through industry sectors, such as financial services, life sciences, retail and consumer products and technology. This industry sector sales approach is designed to enable Highland to better understand the strategic management issues and market conditions faced by clients within their specific business segments. Highland also recruits candidates through functional specialist groups, including those focused on boards of directors and senior officers in the finance, information technology, human resources and legal professions.

Highland operates in 14 practice offices in four countries. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 75% of gross margin in the Highland business was derived in North America.

Corporate expenses are reported separately from the four reportable segments and consist primarily of expenses for compensation, marketing programs, rent and professional consulting.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

### 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

#### **Principles of Consolidation**

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions between and among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation. Transactions and balances between the Company and Monster are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

#### Nature of Business and Credit Risk

The Company's revenue is earned from executive placement services, mid-level employee professional staffing and temporary contracting services. These services are provided to a large number of customers in many different industries. The Company operates principally throughout North America, the United Kingdom, Continental Europe and the Asia Pacific region (primarily Australia).

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, are primarily cash and accounts receivable. The Company performs continuing credit evaluations of its customers and does not require collateral. The Company has not experienced significant losses related to receivables from individual customers or groups of customers in any particular industry or geographic area.

#### Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

The carrying amount reported for long-term debt approximates fair value generally due to the short-term nature of the underlying instruments.

#### Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Company periodically enters into forward contracts to reduce exposure to exchange rate risk related to short-term intercompany loans denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The Company does not apply hedge accounting, and all gains and losses are included in other expense. The Company does not trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. Prior to the Distribution Date, the Company historically participated in Monster's centralized treasury function.

### **Use of Estimates**

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include, among others, allocations of costs to the Company by Monster for 2003 and prior, allowances for doubtful accounts, net realizable values for long-lived assets, and the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

#### **Revenue Recognition**

Although the Company's revenue recognition policy involves a relatively low level of uncertainty, it does require judgment on complex matters that is subject to multiple sources of authoritative guidance.

*Hudson Regional Businesses.* The Company recognizes revenue for temporary services at the time services are provided and revenue is recorded on a time and materials basis. Temporary contracting revenue is reported gross when the Company acts as the principal in the transaction and is at risk for collection. Revenues that do not meet the criteria for gross revenue reporting are reported on a net basis. Revenue generated when the Company permanently places an individual with a client on a contingent basis is recorded at the time of acceptance of employment, net of an allowance for estimated fee reversals. Revenue generated when the Company permanently places an individual with a client on a retained basis is recorded ratably over the period services are rendered, net of an allowance for estimated fee reversals.

*Highland.* Substantially all professional fee revenue is derived from fees for professional services related to executive recruitment, consulting and related services performed on a retained basis. Fee revenue is generally one-third of the estimated first year compensation and reimbursed expenses, plus a percentage of the fee to cover indirect expenses. Fee revenue from executive recruitment is recognized when such services are earned. The Company generally bills clients in three monthly installments. Fees earned in excess of the initial contract amount are recognized at completion of the engagement. Reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses are included in revenue.

Revenue, direct costs and gross margin of the Company were as follows:

	Year e	nded December 3	31, 2005	Year ended December 31, 2004 Year ended Decem		ended December	31, 2003		
	Temporary	Other	Total	Temporary	Other	Total	Temporary	Other	Total
Revenue	\$ 1,034,174	\$ 394,102	\$ 1,428,276	\$ 886,971	\$ 369,383	\$ 1,256,354	\$ 775,674	\$ 309,625	\$ 1,085,299
Direct costs	847,872	43,473	891,345	732,786	53,348	786,134	644,011	38,259	682,270
Gross margin	\$ 186,302	\$ 350,629	\$ 536,931	\$ 154,185	\$ 316,035	\$ 470,220	\$ 131,663	\$ 271,366	\$ 403,029

#### **Direct Costs and Gross Margin**

Direct costs include the direct staffing costs of salaries, payroll taxes, employee benefits, travel expenses and insurance costs for the Company's temporary contractors and reimbursed out-of-pocket expense and other direct costs. Other than reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses, there are no other direct costs associated with the Other category, which includes search, permanent placement and other human resource solutions' revenue. Gross margin represents revenue less direct costs. The region where services are provided, the mix of temporary and permanent placements, and the functional nature of the staffing services provided can affect gross margin.

#### **Operating Expenses**

Salaries and related expenses include the salaries, commissions, payroll taxes and employee benefits related to recruitment professionals, executive level employees, administrative staff and other employees of the Company who are not temporary contractors. Office and general expenses include occupancy, equipment leasing and maintenance, utilities, travel expenses, professional fees and provision for doubtful accounts. The Company expenses the costs of advertising as incurred.



#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

### Accounts Receivable

The Company's accounts receivable balances are composed of trade and unbilled receivables. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts and makes ongoing estimates as to the ability to collect on the various receivables. If the Company determines that the allowance for doubtful accounts is not adequate to cover estimated losses, an expense to provide for doubtful accounts is recorded in office and general expenses. If an account is determined to be uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Management's assessment and judgment are vital requirements in assessing the ultimate realization of these receivables, including the current credit-worthiness, financial stability and effect of market conditions on each customer.

### **Cash and Cash Equivalents**

Cash and cash equivalents, which consist primarily of commercial paper and time deposits, are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. For financial statement presentation purposes, the Company considers all highly liquid investments having an original maturity of three months or less as cash equivalents. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, outstanding checks in excess of cash account balances were \$4,661 and \$3,929, respectively, and are included in accounts payable on the accompanying balance sheet.

The Company participated in Monster's cash management program until the Distribution Date, and Monster substantially funded the Company's cash requirements until the Distribution Date.

#### **Property and Equipment**

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed primarily using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

	Years
Furniture and equipment	3 – 7
Capitalized software costs	2 – 5
Computer equipment	3-4

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term. The amortization periods of material leasehold improvements are made at the inception of the lease term.

#### **Capitalized Software Costs**

Capitalized software costs consist of costs to purchase and develop software for internal use. The Company capitalizes certain incurred software development costs in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("AICPA") Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use ("SOP 98-1"). Costs incurred during the application-development stage for software bought and further customized by outside vendors for the Company's use and software developed by a vendor for the Company's proprietary use have been capitalized. Costs incurred for the Company's own personnel who are directly associated with software development are capitalized as appropriate. Capitalized software costs are included in property and equipment.

#### Intangibles

Intangibles represent acquisition costs in excess of the fair value of net tangible assets of businesses purchased and consist primarily of client lists, trademarks and goodwill. With the exception of goodwill, these

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

costs are being amortized over periods ranging from three to five years on a straight-line basis or on an accelerated basis where appropriate. The Company evaluates its goodwill annually for impairment, or earlier if indicators of potential impairment exist.

### Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as intangibles (except for goodwill), and property and equipment, are evaluated for impairment when events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of these assets and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any, is assessed using discounted cash flows.

#### **Foreign Currency Translation**

The financial position and results of operations of the Company's foreign subsidiaries are determined using local currency as the functional currency. Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each year-end. Statements of Operations accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during each period. Translation adjustments arising from the use of differing exchange rates from period to period are included in the other comprehensive income / (loss) account in stockholders' equity. Gains and losses resulting from other foreign currency transactions are included in other income (expense).

#### **Income Taxes**

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" ("SFAS 109"). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, net operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards, and tax contingencies. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to the extent that it is more likely than not that some portion, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

For the periods prior to the Distribution, the Company was not a separate taxable entity for federal, state or local income tax purposes and its operating results were included in Monster's tax returns. The Company calculated its income taxes under the separate return method and accounted for deferred tax assets and liabilities under the asset and liability method described above. Tax benefits absorbed by Monster prior to the Distribution Date were charged as a reduction to divisional equity.

As a result of the Company's inability to recognize a current tax benefit from the exercise of stock options, no credits have been recorded to additional paid-in capital for the benefit from stock option exercises for all periods presented.

#### Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the Company's earnings (losses) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. When the effects are not anti-dilutive, diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the Company's net earnings by the weighted average number of shares outstanding and the impact of all dilutive potential common shares, primarily stock options. The dilutive impact of stock options and unvested restricted stock is determined by applying the "treasury stock" method. For periods in which a loss is presented, dilutive earnings per share calculations do not differ from basic earnings per share

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

because the effects of any potential common stock were anti-dilutive and, therefore, not included in the calculation of dilutive earnings per share. For the year ended December 31, 2005 the difference between weighted average basic and diluted common shares outstanding was composed of potential common stock from options of 1,237,000 and unvested restricted stock of 142,000. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the effect of approximately 930,000 and 860,000, respectively, of outstanding stock options and other common stock equivalents was excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect was anti-dilutive.

Earnings (loss) per share calculations for each quarter include the weighted average effect for the quarter; therefore, the sum of quarterly earnings (loss) per share amounts may not equal year-to-date earnings (losses) per share amounts, which reflect the weighted average effect on a year-to-date basis.

#### **Comprehensive Income (Loss)**

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined to include all changes in equity except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The Company's other comprehensive (loss) income is solely comprised of foreign currency translation adjustments, which relate to investments that are permanent in nature. To the extent that such amounts relate to investments that are permanent in nature, no adjustments for income taxes are made.

#### **Stock-Based Compensation**

The Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with APB No. 25. Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is recognized in connection with the awarding of stock option grants to employees provided that, as of the grant date, all terms associated with the award are fixed and the quoted market price of the stock is equal to or less than the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Any options issued with an exercise price below the quoted market price on the date of the approved grant have a related compensation expense, which is recognized in the accompanying financial statements. The Company adopted the disclosure only provisions of SFAS 123 and SFAS 148, which require certain financial statement disclosures, including pro forma operating results as if the Company had prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation.

The Company currently uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no restrictions and are fully transferable and negotiable in a free trading market. Black-Scholes does not consider the employment, transfer or vesting restrictions that are inherent in the Company's employee options. Use of an option valuation model, as required by SFAS 123, includes highly subjective assumptions based on long-term predictions, including the expected stock price volatility and average life of each option grant.

As required under SFAS 123 and SFAS 148, the pro forma effects of stock-based compensation on the Company's operating results and per share data have been estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the following weighted average assumptions:

	Y	Year ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003	
Risk free interest rate	4.0%	4.0%	4.0%	
Volatility	55.0%	55.0%	65.0%	
Expected life (years)	5.0	5.0	5.0	
Dividends	—	_	_	
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the period	\$7.52	\$7.21	\$4.36	

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the options' estimated fair value is assumed to be amortized to expense over the options' vesting periods. The pro forma effects of recognizing compensation expense under the fair value method on the Company's operating results and per share data are as shown below. As a result of the Company's inability to recognize current tax benefits on reported net losses, total stock-based compensation expense is shown without tax benefits for all periods presented:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003
Reported net income (loss)	\$ 5,313	\$(26,775)	\$(328,812)
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method			
for all awards	(4,469)	(3,510)	(3,714)
Pro forma net income (loss)	\$ 844	\$(30,285)	\$(332,526)
Earnings (loss) per share:			
As reported basic net income (loss):	\$.24	\$ (1.38)	\$ (19.58)
As reported diluted net income (loss)	\$.22	\$ (1.38)	\$ (19.58)
Pro forma net income (loss):			
Basic	\$.04	\$ (1.56)	\$ (19.80)
Diluted	\$.04	\$ (1.56)	\$ (19.80)

#### Effect of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment. Statement 123(R)* ("SFAS 123R"). SFAS 123R replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes APB No. 25. SFAS 123, as originally issued in 1995, established as preferable a fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees. However, SFAS 123 permitted entities the option of continuing to apply the guidance in APB No. 25, as long as the footnotes to financial statements disclosed what net income would have been had the preferable fair-value-based method been used. SFAS 123R covers a wide range of share-based compensation arrangements including share options, restricted share plans, performance-based awards, share appreciation rights, and employee share purchase plans. SFAS 123R requires the cost of all share-based payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements, establishes fair value as the measurement objective and requires entities to apply a fair-value-based measurement method in accounting for share-based payment transactions. The statement applies to all awards granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled after July 1, 2005, and unvested portions of previously issued and outstanding awards.

The SEC amended the effective date of SFAS 123R with a new rule issued on April 14, 2005 to amend the compliance date for SFAS 123R that allows companies to implement SFAS 123R at the beginning of their next fiscal year, instead of the next reporting period, that begins after June 15, 2005, although early adoption is allowed. SFAS 123R permits companies to adopt its requirements using either a "modified prospective" method, or a "modified retrospective" method. Under the "modified prospective" method, compensation cost is recognized in the financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on the requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after that date, and based on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS 123R. Under the "modified retrospective" method, the requirements are the same as under the "modified prospective" method, but also permits entities to restate financial statements of previous periods based on pro forma disclosures made in accordance with SFAS 123.

The Company will adopt SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006 and will use the aforementioned modified retrospective method. Based upon the stock options granted and estimates of employee contributions to the

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Employee Stock Purchase Plan and subject to a complete management review, the Company expects the adoption of SFAS 123R would reduce pre-tax income and net income by approximately \$4,900 for the year ended 2006, or \$0.20 per basic share and \$0.19 per diluted share, based upon current stock compensation plans and estimated weighted average number of shares outstanding. As a result of the Company's inability to recognize current tax benefits on reported net losses, tax benefits are not expected to be recorded in the near future. The Company has not changed any of its stock compensation plans as a result of the impending adoption of SFAS 123R, but maintains the right to amend, suspend or terminate any plan at any time.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, *Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions* ("SFAS 153"). The amendments made by SFAS 153 are based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. Further, the amendments eliminate the narrow exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replace it with a broader exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. Previously, Opinion 29 required that the accounting for an exchange of a productive asset for a similar productive asset or an equivalent interest in the same or similar productive asset should be based on the recorded amount of the asset relinquished. The Statement is effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company's adoption of SFAS 153 on July 1, 2005 did not have an effect on its consolidated financial statements.

#### Reclassifications

In the current financial statement presentation, changes have been made from presentations in prior Securities and Exchange Commission filings and new account descriptions are being used. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the Company's 2005 financial statement presentation; these reclassifications do not change total revenue, total expenses, net loss, total assets, total liabilities or stockholders' equity.

### 3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

	Decen	nber 31,
	2005	2004
Computer equipment	\$ 31,204	\$ 31,634
Furniture and equipment	23,257	23,497
Capitalized software costs	33,410	29,645
Leasehold and building improvements	21,771	25,723
Transportation equipment	1,077	1,295
	110,719	111,794
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization	79,281	75,434
Property and equipment, net	\$ 31,438	\$ 36,360

Leasehold improvements included assets classified under capital leases at December 31, 2005 and 2004 with a cost of \$725 and \$4,152, respectively, and accumulated amortization of \$52 and \$1,416, respectively. Capitalized software costs included software under capital leases at December 31, 2005 and 2004 with a cost of \$4,714 and \$2,722, respectively and accumulated amortization of \$466 and \$0, respectively. Computer equipment included equipment classified under capital leases at December 31, 2005 and 2004 with a cost of \$153 and \$153, respectively, and accumulated amortization of \$76 and \$25, respectively.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

## 4. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES

SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets not be amortized but be tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if circumstances warrant.

In the third quarter of 2003, the Company determined that under the requirements of SFAS 142, goodwill should be tested for impairment due to business conditions and changes in circumstances resulting from the Distribution, which established the Company as an independent entity with a separate market capitalization. As a result of this test and the related fair value examination, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of \$202,785, in operating expenses. The impairment valuation was based upon a discounted cash flow approach that used estimated future revenue and costs for each business segment as well as appropriate discount rates. The estimates that were used are consistent with the plans and estimates the Company was using to manage the underlying business. The 2003 goodwill impairment charge wrote off all goodwill previously recorded.

A summary of changes in the Company's goodwill by reporting unit follows. Additions in 2005 reflect acquisitions and purchase price adjustments made during the year, as described in Note 6.

	December 31, 2004	Additions and adjustments	Impairments	Currency translation	December 31, 2005
Hudson Americas	\$ 4,567	\$ 1,455	\$	<u>\$</u> —	\$ 6,022
Hudson Europe		15,400	_	(90)	15,310
Hudson Asia Pacific	_	_	_	_	
Highland	_	_	_	_	
	\$ 4,567	\$ 16,855	\$ —	\$ (90)	\$ 21,332
	December 31, 2003	Additions and adjustments	Impairments	Currency translation	December 31, 2004
Hudson Americas	\$ —	\$ 4,567	\$ _	\$ —	\$ 4,567
Hudson Europe	_	_	_	_	
Hudson Asia Pacific	_	_	_	_	
Highland	—	—	_		
	\$ —	\$ 4,567	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 4,567
	December 31, 2002	Additions and adjustments	Impairments	Currency translation	December 31, 2003
Hudson Americas	\$ 55,351	\$ —	\$ (55,351)	\$ —	\$ —
Hudson Europe	128,556	—	(128,707)	(151)	
Hudson Asia Pacific	9,602		(11,346)	(1,744)	—
Highland	7,251	—	(7,381)	(130)	
	\$ 200,760	\$	\$ (202,785)	\$ (2,025)	\$

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(in mousinus) cheepe share and per share a

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, intangible assets consisted of the following:

	D	ecember 31, 2005	De	cember 31, 2004
	Gross carrying amount	Accumulated amortization	Gross Carrying amount	Accumulated amortization
Goodwill	\$21,322	\$ —	\$ 4,567	\$ —
Amortizable intangible assets:				
Client lists and other amortizable intangibles	14,702	(4,924)	4,243	(2,706)
Total intangible assets	\$36,024	\$ (4,924)	\$ 8,810	\$ (2,706)

Amortization of intangible assets was \$2,286, \$646 and \$712, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Estimated intangible asset amortization expense is \$4,200, \$2,700, \$1,500 and \$1,200 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

### 5. BUSINESS REORGANIZATION EXPENSES

In 2003, the Company recorded additional charges and credits as a result of changes in estimates related to the prior actions and as a result of further actions in 2003 to close offices and business units that did not have the size or market capacity to provide future income growth.

As a result of the reorganization initiatives, the Company recorded business reorganization expenses of \$233, \$3,361 and \$26,823, classified as a component of operating expenses, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

#### **Consolidation of Excess Facilities**

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded expense of \$309 for changes in estimates. During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded expense of \$2,492 for changes in estimates and finalization of Highland's Canadian subleases and the signed modification of a Hudson Australian lease and other changes in estimates due to market fluctuations. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded expense of \$6,951 for changes in estimate on facilities involved in the 2002 actions, primarily due to lower estimated sublease income and the inability to sublease certain locations. Additional charges of \$7,284 were recorded in 2003 to close additional locations that were in excess of the space required by the Company's operations. As of December 31, 2005 the remaining accrual related to approximately 28 locations and will be paid over the remaining lease terms, which have various expiration dates up until 2010, except one with a 2020 expiration date. The estimated payments for 2006 are \$3,192.

#### **Workforce Reduction**

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, credits of \$124 and \$201 were recorded for changes in prior year's estimates. During the year ended December 31, 2003, charges of \$1,505 were incurred for the continuation of the 2002 reorganization actions and \$8,744 was incurred for additional reductions in the workforce of approximately 220 employees. As of December 31, 2005, the workforce reduction accrual related to settlements and termination payments for approximately seven former employees, which are all payable in 2006.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

## **Professional Fees and Other Charges**

Professional fees and other charges were \$48 and \$1,070 in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to prior reorganization actions and were primarily related to services required to close the Hudson Australian lease modification in 2004. Professional fees and other charges were \$2,339 in the year ended December 31, 2003. This accrual at December 31, 2005 was included in current liabilities.

Amounts under the "Utilization" caption of the following tables are primarily the cash payments associated with the plans. Business reorganization expense activities and liability balances were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2005	December 31, 2004	Changes in estimate	Additional charges	Utilization	December 31, 2005
Consolidation of excess facilities	\$ 12,894	\$ 309	\$ —	\$ (5,916)	\$ 7,287
Workforce reduction	663	(124)	—	(177)	362
Professional fees and other	2,205	48		(1,584)	669
Total	\$ 15,762	\$ 233	\$	\$ (7,677)	\$ 8,318
Year ended December 31, 2004	December 31, 2003	Changes in estimate	Additional charges	Utilization	December 31, 2004
Consolidation of excess facilities	\$ 18,340	\$ 2,492	\$ —	\$ (7,938)	\$ 12,894
Workforce reduction	5,337	(201)		(4,473)	663
Professional fees and other	2,706	1,070		(1,571)	2,205
Total	\$ 26,383	\$ 3,361	<u>\$                                    </u>	\$(13,982)	\$ 15,762
Year ended December 31, 2003	December 31, 2002	Changes in	Additional charges	Utilization	December 31, 2003
Consolidation of excess facilities	\$ 15,048	\$ 6,951	\$ 7,284	\$(10,943)	\$ 18,340
Workforce reduction	8,375	1,505	8,744	(13,287)	5,337
Professional fees and other	2,422	706	1,633	(2,055)	2,706
Total	\$ 25,845	\$ 9,162	\$ 17,661	\$(26,285)	\$ 26,383

The following table presents a summary of plan activity related to business reorganization costs by plan period.

Year ended December 31, 2005	December 31, 2004	Changes in estimate	Additional	Utilization	December 31, 2005
Second Quarter 2002 Plan	\$ 3,062	\$ 320	\$ —	\$ (1,973)	\$ 1,409
Fourth Quarter 2002 Plan	7,921	5	—	(2,930)	4,996
Fourth Quarter 2003 Plan	4,779	(92)	—	(2,774)	1,913
Total	\$ 15,762	\$ 233	\$	\$ (7,677)	\$ 8,318
Year ended December 31, 2004	December 31, 2003	Changes in estimate	Additional charges	Utilization	December 31, 2004
Year ended December 31, 2004 Second Quarter 2002 Plan				Utilization \$ (2,666)	
	2003	estimate	charges		2004
Second Quarter 2002 Plan	<b>2003</b> <b>\$</b> 4,717	estimate \$ 1,011	charges	\$ (2,666)	<u>2004</u> \$ 3,062

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year ended December 31, 2003	December 31, 2002	Changes in estimate	Additional charges	Utilization	December 31, 2003
Second Quarter 2002 Plan	\$ 14,908	\$ 180	\$ —	\$(10,371)	\$ 4,717
Fourth Quarter 2002 Plan	10,937	8,982		(11,396)	8,523
Fourth Quarter 2003 Plan	—		17,661	(4,518)	13,143
Total	\$ 25,845	\$ 9,162	\$ 17,661	\$(26,285)	\$ 26,383

#### 6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS—MERGER AND INTEGRATION EXPENSES

#### Acquisitions Accounted for Using the Purchase Method

On August 17, 2005, the Company and its subsidiary Hudson Group Holdings B.V. completed the acquisition of all of the shares of Balance Ervaring op Projectbasis B.V. ("Balance"), a leading professional temporary and contract-staffing firm in the Netherlands, pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement"), dated July 19, 2005. The Purchase Agreement provided for a payment at closing of 17,750 euros, up to 3,000 euros paid into escrow to be paid to the sellers in 2006 based upon 2005 earnings thresholds for Balance, and additional earn-out payments of up to 4,250 euros, based on higher earnings thresholds for Balance from 2005 through 2007. If and when such payments come due, the amounts paid will be added to the recorded value of goodwill. Converted to U.S. dollars, the payment in euros at closing including escrow and all costs totaled \$24,210 (net of cash acquired of \$1,900). The Company recorded the allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired of approximately \$9,410 in current assets, \$8,650 in current liabilities, \$500 in non-current assets and \$10,800 for amortizable intangible assets (primarily customer base (\$7,100) and trade name (\$3,400), to be amortized on an accelerated basis that matches the estimated discounted cash flows related to the assets over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years), \$3,250 for deferred tax liabilities and the balance of \$15,400 allocated to non-amortizable goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes. SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations ("SFAS 141") requires disclosure of pro forma results as though the business combination had been completed as of the beginning of the periods being reported. The following unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been achieved if the Company had acquired Balance at the beginning of the periods presented: net income for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2005 would have been approximately \$7,120 (\$0.32 per basic sha

The results of the Balance and other 2005 acquired businesses have been included in the Hudson Europe segment of the consolidated financial statements since the respective dates of acquisition.

On June 2, 2004, the Company purchased one business through the issuance of 367,174 shares of its common stock, with a fair value of \$5,281. The results of this business have been included in the Hudson segment of the consolidated financial statements since that date. The Company recorded the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired (\$1,258 in assets, \$544 in liabilities) with the excess of \$4,567 allocated to goodwill, which may be deductible for tax purposes. The purchase agreement provides for contingent payouts to the sellers over the next three years, based upon future minimum annual and cumulative earnings thresholds. If and when such payments come due, the amounts paid will be added to the recorded value of goodwill. Pursuant to this purchase agreement, the Company paid a contingent payout of \$1,455 to the sellers in July 2005 and the amount paid was added to the recorded value of goodwill.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

#### Merger and Integration Expenses Incurred with Pooling of Interests Transactions

In connection with pooling of interests transactions completed prior to June 30, 2001, the Company formulated plans to integrate the operations of such companies. Such plans involved the closure of certain offices of the acquired and merged companies and the termination of certain management and employees. The objectives of the plans were to eliminate redundant facilities and personnel, and to create a single brand in the related markets in which the Company operates.

The Company adjusted its estimates of these merger and integration costs by recognizing an expense reduction of \$70 for the year ended December 31, 2005 and expenses of \$736 and \$2,663 for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which consisted primarily of additional changes in the estimated costs of assumed leases and changes in sub-lease income from acquisitions.

Amounts reflected in the "Expense" column in the following tables represent changes in estimates to established plans subsequent to finalization. Amounts under the "Utilization" caption of the following tables are primarily the cash payments associated with the plans.

Accrued integration expense activities and liability balances consisted of:

Year ended December 31. 2005	December 31, 2004	Adjust Goodwill	ments to Expenses	Utilization		ember 31, 2005
Assumed lease obligations on closed facilities	\$ 5,201	\$ —	\$ (70)	\$ (1,854)	\$	3,277
Total	\$ 5,201	\$	\$ (70)	\$ (1,854)	\$	3,277
Year ended December 31, 2004	December 31, 2003	<u>Adjust</u> Goodwill	ments to Expenses	Utilization		ember 31, 2004
Assumed lease obligations on closed facilities	\$ 6,709	\$ —	\$ 736	\$ (2,244)	\$	5,201
Consolidation of acquired facilities	460	—		(460)		—
Total	\$ 7,169	\$ —	\$ 736	\$ (2,704)	\$	5,201
Year ended December 31. 2003	December 31,		ments to			ember 31,
Assumed lease obligations on closed facilities	<u>2002</u> \$ 7,983	<u>Goodwill</u> \$	Expenses \$ 2,693	Utilization \$ (3,967)	\$	2003 6,709
Consolidation of acquired facilities	1,607	Ψ —	(30)	(1,117)	Ψ	460
Severance, relocation and other employee costs	36			(36)		—
Total	\$ 9,626	\$	\$ 2,663	\$ (5,120)	\$	7,169

Costs associated with assumed lease obligations on closed facilities relate to leased office locations of acquired companies that were either under-utilized prior to the acquisition date or closed by the Company in connection with acquisition-related restructuring plans. The amount is based on the present value of minimum future lease obligations, net of estimated sublease income. The estimated payments for 2006 are \$1,239, with the remaining balance paid over the terms of the eight leases that end in 2015.

Costs associated with the consolidation of existing offices of acquired companies relate to termination costs of contracts relating to billing systems, external reporting systems and other contractual arrangements with third parties.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

The following tables present a summary of activity relating to the Company's integration plans for acquisitions made in prior years by the year of acquisition.

Year ended December 31, 2005	Dec	ember 31, 2004	Ex	penses	Ut	tilization	1	nber 31, 2005
2000 Plans	\$	2,407	\$	(35)	\$	(701)		\$ 1,671
2001 Plans		800		(35)		(309)		456
2002 Plans		1,994				(844)		1,150
Total	\$	5,201	\$	(70)	\$	(1,854)		\$ 3,277
Year ended December 31, 2004	Dec	ember 31, 2003	Ex	penses	Ut	tilization	]	nber 31, 2004
Year ended December 31, 2004 2000 Plans	Dec \$		Ex \$	penses 595	<u>U1</u> \$	tilization (641)	1	
		2003	¢		\$		1	2004
2000 Plans		2003 2,453	¢	595	\$	(641)	]	2,407

#### 7. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

	Yea	Year Ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003	
Interest paid	\$2,741	\$1,498	<u>2003</u> \$2,312	
Income taxes paid	\$3,313	\$1,195	\$ 60	
Value of common stock issued to satisfy 401(k) contribution (a)	\$1,563	\$1,058		
Capital lease obligations	\$2,079	\$3,920	_	
Fair value of common stock issued for acquisition (b)		\$5,281		

(a) The Company issued 94,960 and 92,076 shares of its common stock in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(b) The Company issued 367,174 shares of common stock to purchase a business in its Hudson Americas segment.

### 8. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:

		Decen	ıber 31,	er 31,		
	2	2005		2004		
Salaries, commissions and benefits	\$	77,604	\$	69,836		
Sales, use and income taxes		23,737		27,098		
Fees for professional services		5,794		7,340		
Rent		5,030		3,038		
Other accruals		27,871		33,591		
	\$ 1	40,036	\$	140,903		

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

### 9. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

	Decem	iber 31,
	2005	2004
Capitalized lease obligations, payable with interest from 6.0% to 7.2%, in varying installments through 2008	\$ 2,949	\$ 6,107
Less: Current portion	2,471	4,066
	\$ 478	\$ 2,041

As of December 31, 2005, long-term debt matures as follows: \$2,471 in 2006, \$220 in 2007 and \$258 in 2008. Certain of the leases can be paid prior to the scheduled maturity. Capital lease obligations presented here exclude the interest portion of the obligation, which is immaterial.

## **10. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS**

The Company adopted all the stock compensation plans and savings plans listed below subsequent to the Distribution.

The Company maintains the Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (the "LTIP") pursuant to which it granted 1,389,000, 267,100 and 1,579,712 stock options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock to certain key employees during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Options outstanding have vesting periods of three to four years. Options with three-year lives vest 50% on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 25% on each of the two succeeding anniversaries of the date of grant. Options with four-year lives vest 25% on each of the four anniversary dates. All options granted in 2005 and 2004 had four-year vesting periods. Options exercisable within one year from December 31, 2005 totaled 936,190. No options related to the common stock of Monster were converted at the Distribution into options to purchase the Company's stock.

The Company granted 250,000 options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock under the LTIP to five non-employee members of the Board of Directors in 2003. These options had an immediate vesting of 40% of the options granted with the remaining options vesting evenly over the next three years. Of these options 10,000 have been exercised and the remaining 240,000 were outstanding as of December 31, 2005. Options exercisable within one year from December 31, 2005 totaled 240,000.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Restricted stock activity for the three years ended December 31, 2005 follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003
Opening balance unvested restricted stock	138,625	184,750	
Grants issued with three year vesting (a)			130,750
Grants issued with four year vesting (b)	53,000	50,000	54,000
Grants issued with immediate vesting (c)	4,000	5,600	_
Grants canceled	(2,063)	(7,500)	
Grants vested with three year vesting (a)	(24,812)	(55,625)	—
Grants vested with four year vesting (b)	(26,500)	(19,500)	
Grants vested due to accelerated vesting		(13,500)	
Grants vested with immediate vesting (c)	(4,000)	(5,600)	
Ending balance unvested restricted stock	138,250	138,625	184,750
Average grant price	\$ 24.28	\$ 13.32	\$ 8.23
Restricted stock expense (d)	\$ 795	\$ 971	\$ 467

(a) Restricted stock with a three-year vesting period vests 50% on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 25% on each of the two succeeding anniversaries of the date of grant.

(b) Restricted stock with a four-year vesting period vests 25% on each of the four anniversary dates.

(c) Restricted shares that vested immediately were granted to a total of 77 employees as performance awards.

(d) The value of the restricted stock at the date of grant is amortized over the related vesting period as a charge to compensation expense and an increase in additional paid-in capital. These shares are provided at no cost to the employee.

Stock option activity for the three years ended December 31, 2005 follows:

	LTIP shares available for grant	Number of options outstanding	a exer	eighted verage cise price rr share
April 1, 2003 shares reserved	2,000,000			—
Options granted	(1,829,712)	1,829,712	\$	7.34
Restricted shares granted	(184,750)	—		—
Options forfeited/canceled	55,112	(55,112)		6.87
As of December 31, 2003	40,650	1,774,600		7.36
Additional shares reserved	1,000,000			_
Options granted	(267,100)	267,100		13.66
Restricted shares granted	(55,600)	—		—
Options exercised		(252,074)		6.58
Options forfeited/canceled	146,760	(146,760)		7.94
Options expired		(1,000)		6.83
Restricted shares forfeited/canceled	7,500			—
As of December 31, 2004	872,210	1,641,866		8.37
Additional shares reserved	1,500,000			
Options granted	(1,389,000)	1,389,000		15.78
Restricted shares granted	(57,000)	—		_
Options exercised		(187,038)		8.48
Options forfeited/canceled	48,413	(48,413)		11.44
Option expired	—	(1,250)		8.54
Restricted shares forfeited/canceled	2,063			—
As of December 31, 2005	976,686	2,794,165	\$	11.57

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

The following table summarizes stock options information at December 31, 2005:

		Options out	standin	g			Optio	ons exercisab	le	
Range of exercise prices	Number outstanding	Weighted- average remaining contractual life	a	eighted- werage rcise price	Aggregate intrinsic value	Number exercisable	a	eighted- verage rcise price		ggregate Insic value
\$6.83	1,025,190	7.3 years	\$	6.83	\$ 10,795	597,867	\$	6.83	\$	6,295
\$9.16 to \$9.44	37,625	7.5 years	\$	9.30	303	28,125	\$	9.30		227
\$10.55 to \$11.65	123,325	7.9 years	\$	11.22	757	74,825	\$	11.26		456
\$12.34 to \$13.37	1,074,600	9.0 years	\$	13.20	4,474	14,999	\$	12.43		74
\$13.74 to \$16.33	393,425	9.0 years	\$	14.71	1,042	35,025	\$	14.34		106
\$25.94	140,000	9.9 years	\$	25.94	—			—		—
	2,794,165	8.4 years	\$	11.57	\$ 17,371	750,841	\$	7.83	\$	7,158

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value based on the Company's closing stock price of \$17.36 as of December 31, 2005, that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options as of that date. All options that were exercisable as of December 31, 2005 were in-the-money options.

Subsequent to December 31, 2005, the Company granted 250,000 options with an exercise price of \$16.00 to certain key employees. These options vest evenly over four years. On February 6, 2006, the Company also granted 3,900 shares of restricted stock, which vested immediately, to 39 employees as performance awards.

The Company maintains the Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), pursuant to which eligible employees may purchase shares of the Company's common stock at the lesser of 85% of the fair market value at the commencement of each plan purchase period or 85% of the fair market value as of the purchase date. ESPP purchase dates are generally every six months ended June 30 and December 31, but for 2003 the dates were August 31 and December 31. In accordance with APB No. 25, the ESPP is a non-compensatory plan and no expenses were recorded for the ESPP. Pro-forma expenses included for SFAS 123 purposes were \$653, \$491 and \$402 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company issued 164,930, 154,968 and 195,286 shares of common stock pursuant to the ESPP at an average price of \$12.71, \$10.26 and \$6.66 per share in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of the December 31, 2005, the Company has 793,374 shares reserved for future share issuances under the ESPP and SIP (as defined below).

The Company's United Kingdom subsidiary maintains the Hudson Global Resources Share Incentive Plan (the "SIP"), a stock purchase plan for its employees, whereby eligible employees may purchase shares on the open market at the end of each month, and the Company matches the employee purchases with a contribution of shares equal to 50% of the number of employee shares purchased. The Company issued 2,653, 4,622 and 2,268 shares of common stock pursuant to the SIP in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Shares are issued under the SIP from the ESPP share reserve.

The Company maintains the Hudson Highland Group, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (the "401(k)"). The 401(k) plan allows eligible employees to contribute up to 15% of their earnings to the 401(k) plan. The Company matches contributions up to 3% and 2% for 2003 contributions, through a contribution of the Company's common stock. Vesting of the Company's contribution occurs over a five-year period. Expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the 401(k) plan was \$2,071, \$1,607 and \$1,085, respectively. In March of 2005, the Company issued 94,960 shares of its common stock with a value of \$1,563 to satisfy the 2004

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

contribution liability to the 401(k) Savings Plan. In March of 2004, the Company issued 92,076 shares of its common stock with a value of \$1,058 to satisfy the 2003 contribution liability to the 401(k) Savings Plan. The 2005 401(k) plan matching shares will be issued in the first quarter of 2006.

## 11. PROVISION (BENEFIT) FOR INCOME TAXES

The tax provision in 2005 related primarily to the increase in foreign tax expense in jurisdictions where there were no tax-loss carry forwards available to offset taxable income. Income (loss) before provision for income taxes by domestic and foreign sources follows:

	Ye	Year ended December 31,			
	2005	2004	2003		
Domestic	\$(26,928)	\$(36,089)	\$(115,264)		
Foreign	37,277	10,952	(201,527)		
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	\$ 10,349	\$(25,137)	\$(316,791)		

The provision (benefit) for income taxes was as follows:

		Year ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003	
Current tax provision (benefit):				
U.S. Federal	\$ —	\$ (1,288)	\$ —	
State and local	161	690	36	
Foreign	3,854	3,660	903	
Total current	4,015	3,062	939	
Deferred tax provision (benefit)				
U.S. Federal	—	—		
State and local	—	—	—	
Foreign	1,021	(1,424)	11,082	
Total deferred	1,021	(1,424)	11,082	
Total provision	\$ 5,036	\$ 1,638	\$ 12,021	

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to the Company's deferred tax assets (liabilities) were as follows:

	Decemb	oer 31,
	2005	2004
Current deferred tax assets:		
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$ 944	\$ 1,012
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	1,726	3,456
Accrued compensation liabilities	3,226	4,549
Total current deferred tax asset	5,896	9,017
Non-current deferred tax assets (liabilities):		
Property and equipment	(1,618)	(2,240)
Intangibles	19,286	25,575
Deferred compensation	586	446
Tax loss carry-forwards	99,800	95,400
Total non-current deferred tax asset	118,054	119,181
Valuation allowance	(123,226)	(122,907)
Net deferred tax assets	\$ 724	\$ 5,291

Net deferred tax assets were included in other current assets and other long-term assets. Through March 31, 2003, the Company was included in the United States Federal and certain state consolidated tax filings with Monster. The tax provisions and deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Company were calculated as if the Company were a separate entity.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards for U.S. Federal tax purposes of approximately \$185,500, including approximately \$27,400 of tax losses that were not absorbed by Monster on its consolidated U.S. Federal tax returns through the Distribution Date, which expire through 2024. These losses included pre-acquisition losses of certain acquired companies and are subject to an annual limitation on the amount that can be utilized. In addition, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards from all other countries of approximately \$86,200 at December 31, 2005. The Company has concluded that, based on expected future results and the future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, there was no reasonable assurance that the entire amount related to tax benefits can be utilized. Accordingly, a valuation allowance was established.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the effective tax rate of 48.7% differs from the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 35% due largely to the inability to recognize tax benefits on net U.S. losses which include corporate expenses. Other factors also include valuation allowances on deferred tax assets related to net loss carry forwards, continuing losses in certain tax jurisdictions, variations from the U.S. tax rate in foreign jurisdictions, and certain non-deductible expenses such as meals and entertainment, amortization, business restructuring and spin off costs, and merger costs from pooling of interests transactions. The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to the extent that it is more likely than not that some portion, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

		Year ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003	
Provision (benefit) at Federal statutory rate	\$3,622	\$ (8,798)	\$(110,877)	
State income taxes, net of Federal income tax effect	161	690	36	
Change in valuation allowance	319	25,614	43,269	
Nondeductible expenses	634	1,854	3,413	
Effect of foreign operations	300	(16,434)	8,680	
Prior periods Federal income tax adjustment	—	(1,288)	—	
Goodwill impairment		—	65,000	
Net operating losses retained/utilized by Monster	—	—	2,500	
Income tax provision (benefit)	\$5,036	\$ 1,638	\$ 12,021	

No provision was made for U.S. or additional foreign taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries. Such earnings have been and will continue to be reinvested but could become subject to additional tax if they were remitted as dividends, or were loaned to the Company or a U.S. affiliate, or if the Company should sell its stock in the foreign subsidiaries. It is not practicable to determine the amount of additional tax, if any, that might be payable on the undistributed foreign earnings. The provision for income taxes in 2003 included an \$11,082 expense for the increased valuation allowances established for deferred tax assets, whose future utilization was not reasonably assured, partially offset by higher deferred tax benefits from tax loss carry-forwards.

### 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

#### Leases

The Company leases facilities and equipment under operating leases that expire at various dates through 2027. Some of the operating leases provide for increasing rents over the terms of the leases; total rent expense under these leases is recognized ratably over the lease terms. Future minimum lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2005, were as follows:

2006	\$ 32,667
2007	27,452
2008	24,278
2009	20,637
2010	17,236
Thereafter	74,398
	74,398 \$ 196,668

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Rent and related expenses under operating leases for facilities and equipment were \$31,425, \$31,912 and \$36,503 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Operating lease obligations after 2009 relate to building leases. Commitments based in currencies other than U.S. dollars were translated using exchanges rates as of December 31, 2005.

#### **Consulting, Employment and Non-compete Agreements**

The Company has entered into various consulting, employment and non-compete agreements with certain key management personnel, executive search consultants and former owners of acquired businesses. Agreements with key members of management are generally one year in length, on an at will basis, and provide for compensation and severance payments under certain circumstances and are automatically renewed annually unless either party gives sufficient notice of termination. Agreements with certain consultants and former owners of acquired businesses are generally two to five years in length.

#### Litigation

The Company is subject to various claims from lawsuits, taxing authorities and other complaints arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company records provisions for losses when the claim becomes probable and the amount due is estimable. Although the outcome of these claims cannot be determined, it is the opinion of management that the final resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

#### **Risks and Uncertainties**

The Company has a history of operating losses and has operated as an independent company only since the Distribution Date. Prior to the Distribution Date, the Company's operations were historically financed by Monster as separate segments of Monster's broader corporate organization rather than as a separate stand-alone company. Monster assisted the Company by providing financing, particularly for acquisitions, as well as providing corporate functions such as identifying and negotiating acquisitions, legal and tax functions. Following the Distribution, Monster has no obligation to provide assistance to the Company other than the interim and transitional services provided by Monster pursuant to the transition services agreement described in Note 13.

### **13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS**

### **Distribution Business Agreements**

In connection with the Distribution, the Company and Monster entered into agreements covering employee benefit plans, real estate, transition services and tax separation.

The Company and Monster entered into various lease and sublease arrangements for the sharing of certain facilities for a transitional period on commercial terms. In the case of subleases or sub-subleases of property, the lease terms and conditions generally coincide with the remaining terms and conditions of the primary lease or sublease, respectively.

The Company entered into a transition services agreement with Monster effective as of the Distribution Date. Under the agreement, Monster provides to the Company, and the Company provides to Monster, certain insurance, tax, legal, facilities, human resources, information technology and other services that are required for a limited time (generally for one year following the Distribution Date, except as otherwise agreed).

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

After the Distribution Date, the Company was no longer included in Monster's consolidated group for United States federal income tax purposes. The Company and Monster entered into a tax separation agreement to reflect the Company's separation from Monster with respect to tax matters. The primary purpose of the tax separation agreement is to reflect each party's rights and obligations relating to payments and refunds of taxes that are attributable to periods beginning before and including the date of the distribution and any taxes resulting from transactions effected in connection with the distribution. The Company has agreed to indemnify Monster for any tax liability attributable to the distribution resulting from any action taken by the Company.

#### **Monster Funding of HH Group Obligations**

Monster agreed at the Distribution Date to reimburse the Company for \$13,530 of cash payments related to the Company's accrued integration, restructuring and business reorganization obligations and other expenses during the first year following the spin-off. The Company has received payments of \$13,530 since the Distribution, and legal obligation for settlement of such liabilities remained with the Company.

#### **Other Commercial Arrangements**

The Company and Monster entered into a three-year commercial contract, which ends in March 2006, involving the utilization of Monster.com services for targeting, sourcing, screening and tracking prospective job candidates around the world. The Company and Monster may from time to time also negotiate and purchase other services from the other, pursuant to customary terms and conditions. There is no contractual commitment that requires the Company to use Monster services in preference to other competitors.

#### **Non-Cash Transfers**

Monster transferred to the Company non-cash assets and liabilities in 2003 prior to the Distribution Date. The approximate value recorded for the transfers by account were: due from Monster \$13,530, property and equipment \$7,600, intangibles \$1,500, accrued expenses and other current liabilities \$2,900, and other liabilities \$600.

### **14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS**

### **Credit Facility**

The Company has a senior secured credit facility for \$75,000 (the "Credit Facility"). The maturity date of the Credit Facility is March 31, 2009. Outstanding loans will bear interest equal to the prime rate plus 0.25% or LIBOR plus 2.00%, at the Company's option and had a weighted average interest rate of 6.49% as of December 31, 2005. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and extensions of credit will be based on a percentage of the accounts receivable of the Company. The Company expects to continue to use such credit to support its ongoing working capital requirements, capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and to support letters of credit. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding borrowings of \$30,073 under the Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility contains various restrictions and covenants, including (1) prohibitions on payments of dividends and repurchases of the Company's stock; (2) requirements that the Company maintain its minimum Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Facility) and capital expenditures within prescribed levels; (3) restrictions on the ability of the Company to make additional borrowings, or to consolidate, merge or

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

otherwise fundamentally change the ownership of the Company; and (4) limitations on investments, dispositions of assets and guarantees of indebtedness. On March 9, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment to the Credit Facility that established minimum Adjusted EBITDA measured on a trailing twelve-month basis and maximum capital expenditure covenant levels for fiscal year 2006. The minimum Adjusted EBITDA covenant generally provides that the Company's Adjusted EBITDA for the trailing twelve-month periods ending March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2006 may not be less than \$15,000, \$15,000, \$25,000 and \$25,000, respectively. The maximum capital expenditure covenant provides that the Company's capital expenditures for 2006 may not exceed \$14,000. These restrictions and covenants could limit the Company's ability to respond to market conditions, to provide for unanticipated capital investments, to raise additional debt or equity capital, to pay dividends or to take advantage of business opportunities, including future acquisitions.

### **Outstanding Letters of Credit**

The Company had letters of credit outstanding at December 31, 2005 of \$15,502, leaving \$29,425 of the credit facility available for use on the terms set forth in the Credit Facility. These letters of credit have various maturity dates through 2015 and are primarily used to secure operating and capital lease financing and insurance coverage.

#### Shelf Registration Statement Filing

The Company filed a shelf registration in October 2004 to enable it to issue up to 1,350,000 shares of its common stock from time to time in connection with acquisitions of businesses, assets or securities of other companies, whether by purchase, merger or any other form of acquisition or business combination. If any shares are issued using this shelf registration, the Company will not receive any proceeds from these offerings other than the assets, businesses or securities acquired. As of December 31, 2005 all of the 1,350,000 shares are still available.

### **Derivatives Held for Purposes Other Than Trading**

The Company periodically enters into forward contracts to minimize the exposure to foreign exchange rate risk related to intercompany loan balances denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The fair values for all derivatives are recorded in other assets or other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company had no outstanding derivatives as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

#### **15. STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN**

On February 2, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a "Right") for each outstanding share of common stock of the Company. The dividend was payable upon the close of business on February 28, 2005 to the stockholders of record on that date. Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value \$.001 par value ("Preferred Shares"), of the Company, at a price of \$60 per one one-hundredth of a Preferred Share, subject to adjustment. If any person becomes a 15% or more stockholder of the Company, then each Right (subject to certain limitations) will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right's then current exercise price, a number of shares of common stock of the Company or of the acquirer having a market value at the time of twice the Right's per share exercise price. The Company's Board of Directors may redeem the Rights for \$.001 per Right at any time prior to the time when the Rights become exercisable. Unless the Rights are redeemed, exchanged or terminated earlier, they will expire on February 28, 2015.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

## **16. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC DATA**

The Company operates in four reportable segments: the three Hudson regional businesses of Hudson Americas, Hudson Europe and Hudson Asia Pacific, and Highland. The Company reassessed its reportable segments in the fourth quarter of 2005 and prior period results are presented in conformity with the 2005 presentation.

Segment information is presented in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. This standard is based on a management approach that requires segmentation based upon the Company's internal organization and disclosure of revenue, certain expenses and operating income based upon internal accounting methods. The Company's financial reporting systems present various data for management to run the business, including internal profit and loss statements prepared on a basis not consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Accounts receivable, net and long-lived assets are the only significant assets separated by segment for internal reporting purposes.

For the Year Ended December 31. 2005	Hudson Americas	Hudson Europe	Hudson Asia Pacific	Highland	Corporate	Total
Revenue	\$446,949	\$481,623	\$436,877	\$62,827	\$ —	\$1,428,276
Gross margin	\$114,414	\$204,439	\$158,345	\$59,733	\$ —	\$ 536,931
Business reorganization expenses (recoveries)	\$ 510	\$ (42)	\$ 43	\$ (278)	\$ —	\$ 233
EBITDA (loss)(a)	\$ 13,910	\$ 16,206	\$ 30,555	\$ 4,452	\$(35,539)	\$ 29,584
Depreciation and amortization	5,217	4,771	6,501	1,354	569	18,412
Operating income (loss)	8,693	11,435	24,054	3,098	(36,108)	11,172
Interest and other income (expense), net	(232)	2,331	194	1,841	(4,957)	(823)
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 8,461	\$ 13,766	\$ 24,248	\$ 4,939	\$(41,065)	\$ 10,349
As of December 31, 2005						
Accounts receivable, net	\$ 89,078	\$ 87,547	\$ 45,430	\$10,026	\$	\$ 232,081
Long-lived assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization	\$ 17,096	\$ 31,387	\$ 6,668	\$ 1,464	\$ 5,923	\$ 62,538
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004	Hudson Americas	Hudson Europe	Hudson Asia Pacific	Highland	Corporate	Total
Revenue	\$334,765	\$447,483	\$412,427	\$61,679	\$ —	\$1,256,354
Gross margin	\$ 86,662	\$182,069	\$143,360	\$58,129	\$ —	\$ 470,220
Business reorganization expenses (recoveries)	\$ 1,051	\$ 225	\$ (260)	\$ 2,345	\$ —	\$ 3,361
EBITDA (loss)(a)	\$ 4,343	\$ 297	\$ 23,811	\$ (69)	\$(31,473)	\$ (3,091)
Depreciation and amortization	5,307	4,773	6,163	1,805	2,060	20,108
Operating income (loss)	(964)	(4,476)	17,648	(1,874)	(33,533)	(23,199)
Interest and other income (expense), net	(150)	2,978	(122)	119	(4,763)	(1,938)
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (1,114)	\$ (1,498)	\$ 17,526	\$ (1,755)	\$(38,296)	\$ (25,137)
As of December 31, 2004						
Accounts receivable, net	\$ 52,931	\$ 83,739	\$ 52,747	\$ 8,165	\$ —	\$ 197,582
Long-lived assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization	\$ 13,944	\$ 8,442	\$ 11,689	\$ 2,347	\$ 6,042	\$ 42,464

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003	Hudson Americas	Hudson Europe	Hudson Asia Pacific	Highland	Corporate	Total
Revenue	\$ 278,935	\$ 364,766	\$ 377,555	\$ 64,043	\$	\$ 1,085,299
Gross margin	\$ 65,220	\$ 154,632	\$ 122,840	\$ 60,337	\$ —	\$ 403,029
Goodwill impairment	\$ 55,351	\$ 128,707	\$ 11,346	\$ 7,381	\$ —	\$ 202,785
Business reorganization expenses	\$ 1,874	\$ 9,536	\$ 4,366	\$ 10,829	\$ 218	\$ 26,823
EBITDA (loss)(a)	\$ (69,468)	\$ (154,141)	\$ (8,975)	\$ (30,722)	\$ (29,044)	\$ (292,350)
Depreciation and amortization	3,988	4,373	5,710	4,234	2,994	21,299
Operating loss	(73,456)	(158,514)	(14,685)	(34,956)	(32,038)	(313,649)
Interest and other income (expense), net	(586)	(1,099)	794	(965)	(1,286)	(3,142)
Loss before income taxes	\$ (74,042)	\$ (159,613)	\$ (13,891)	\$ (35,921)	\$ (33,324)	\$ (316,791)
As of December 31, 2003						
Accounts receivable, net	\$ 36,607	\$ 61,184	\$ 41,797	\$ 9,454	\$ —	\$ 149,042
Long-lived assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization	\$ 8,702	\$ 10,254	\$ 10,948	\$ 3,996	\$ 6,905	\$ 40,805

(a) Non-GAAP earnings before interest, income taxes, other non-operating expense, and depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") are presented to provide additional information to investors about the Company's operations on a basis consistent with the measures which the Company uses to manage its operations and evaluate its performance. Management also uses this measurement to evaluate capital needs and working capital requirements. EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for operating income, cash flows from operating activities, and other income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or as a measure of the Company's profitability or liquidity. Furthermore, EBITDA as presented above may not be comparable with similarly titled measure reported by other companies.

Information by geographic region Year ended December 31, 2005:	United States	Australia	United Kingdom	Continental Europe	Other Asia	Other <u>Americas</u>	Total
Revenue (b)	\$ 488,037	\$ 336,687	\$ 373,752	\$ 119,020	\$ 104,074	\$ 6,706	\$ 1,428,276
Long-lived assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization (c)	\$ 23,691	\$ 6,073	\$ 4,369	\$ 27,450	\$ 713	\$ 242	\$ 62,538
Year ended December 31, 2004:							
Revenue (b)	\$ 373,329	\$ 332,029	\$ 352,563	\$ 102,371	\$ 89,710	\$ 6,352	\$ 1,256,354
Long-lived assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization (c)	\$ 21,287	\$ 9,970	\$ 5,836	\$ 3,417	\$ 1,720	\$ 234	\$ 42,464
Year ended December 31, 2003:							
Revenue (b)	\$ 317,595	\$ 310,525	\$ 282,075	\$ 97,794	\$ 71,864	\$ 5,446	\$ 1,085,299
Long-lived assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization (c)	\$ 17,869	\$ 8,843	\$ 7,282	\$ 4,202	\$ 2,110	\$ 499	\$ 40,805

(b) Revenue is generally recorded on a geographic basis according to the location of the operating subsidiary.

(c) Comprised of property and equipment and intangibles. Corporate assets are included in the United States.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued) (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

## 17. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)

	First quarter	Second quarter	Third quarter	Fourth quarter
Year ended December 31, 2005:				
Revenue	\$ 352,869	\$ 364,835	\$ 356,603	\$ 353,969
Gross margin	\$ 128,207	\$ 141,167	\$ 135,168	\$ 132,389
Operating income (loss)	\$ (2,035)	\$ 6,355	\$ 4,439	\$ 2,413
Net income (loss)	\$ (4,137)	\$ 4,365	\$ 2,295	\$ 2,790
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$ (0.20)	\$ 0.21	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.12
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (a)	\$ (0.20)	\$ 0.20	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.11
Basic weighted average shares outstanding for quarter (b)	20,504,000	20,642,000	23,875,000	24,103,000
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding for quarter (b)	20,504,000	21,635,000	25,540,000	25,823,000
	First quarter	Second quarter	Third quarter	Fourth quarter
Year ended December 31, 2004:				
Revenue	\$ 289,804	\$ 307,431	\$ 315,029	\$ 344,090
Gross margin	\$ 106,391	\$ 118,489	\$ 116,414	\$ 128,926
Operating income (loss)	\$ (16,307)	\$ 680	\$ (6,748)	\$ (824)
Net income (loss)	\$ (18,708)	\$ 217	\$ (6,947)	\$ (1,337)
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$ (1.09)	\$ 0.01	\$ (0.34)	\$ (0.07)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (a)	\$ (1.09)	\$ 0.01	\$ (0.34)	\$ (0.07)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding for quarter (b)	17,231,000	19,901,000	20,306,000	20,371,000
	17,231,000	20,872,000	20,306,000	20,371,000

(a) Diluted earnings (loss) per share reflect the potential dilution from the assumed exercise of all dilutive potential common shares, primarily stock options. For the first quarter in 2005 and the first, third and fourth quarters in 2004, the effect of approximately 1,138,000, 1,000,000, 918,000 and 830,000, respectively, of outstanding stock options and other common stock equivalents was excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect was anti-dilutive.

(b) Weighted average shares outstanding increased primarily due to the Company's issuances of 3,223,640 shares of common stock in a registered public offering on July 6, 2005, 2,547,770 shares of common stock in a registered public offering on March 23, 2004, and of 367,174 shares of common stock to purchase a business on June 2, 2004.

Earnings (loss) per share calculations for each quarter include the weighted average effect for the quarter; therefore, the sum of quarterly loss per share amounts may not equal year-to-date loss per share amounts, which reflect the weighted average effect on a year-to-date basis.

### **Table of Contents**

### ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

#### **ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES**

### **Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and its Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Based on this evaluation, the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and its Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

### Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The report of management required under this Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption "Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting" on page 31.

#### **Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

The attestation report under this Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption "Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" on page 32.

#### **Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

During the third quarter of 2005, the Company implemented a new accounting and management reporting system in its Hudson North America business. As a result of this activity, the Company experienced a delay in its ability to produce management reports and customer invoices in a timely manner within the Hudson North America division for a period of time within the quarter. The December 31, 2005 balance sheet reflects a related increase in billed and unbilled receivables, and the results of operations reflect a corresponding increase in the use of cash.

The Company has taken a number of additional steps to ensure that the financial statements included in this report accurately reflect the financial position of the Company and the results of operations for the periods indicated. These procedures have included, but were not limited to: applying additional methods and techniques to evaluate the accuracy of the revenue and unbilled revenue accounts; ensuring that additional control procedures, such as manual checks and balances, reconciliations, instituting changes in process, and additional training were put in place; and implementing increased monitoring of operating cash flow in recognition of the expected slowing of cash receipts resulting from delayed billings.

Other than the aforementioned change in the Hudson North American systems, there were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2005 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting. The Company is continuing to implement the accounting and management reporting system in its Hudson North America business, and in that process, expects that there will be future changes in internal controls as a result of this implementation.

## **ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION**

### Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement

On March 9, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment (the "Amendment") to its Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2003 (the "Loan Agreement"), to establish the minimum Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Loan Agreement) thresholds measured on a trailing twelve-month basis and the maximum capital expenditures allowed under the Loan Agreement covenants for the Company in 2006. The minimum Adjusted EBITDA covenant generally provides that the Company's minimum Adjusted EBITDA for the trailing twelve-month periods ending March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2006 may not be less than \$15,000, \$15,000, \$25,000 and \$25,000, respectively. The maximum capital expenditure covenant provides that the Company's capital expenditures for 2006 may not exceed \$14,000. The Amendment is filed as Exhibit 4.9 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

## PART III

## ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Pursuant to Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information included under the captions "Election of Directors," "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in the Company's definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days following the end of the fiscal year covered by this report (the "Proxy Statement"), is hereby incorporated by reference. The information required by Item 10 with respect to our Executive Officers is included in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees and a Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Financial and Accounting Officers. We have posted a copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Code of Ethics on our Web site at www.hhgroup.com. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Code of Ethics are also available in print to any stockholder who requests them in writing from the Corporate Secretary at 622 Third Avenue, New York, New York 10017. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendments to, or waivers from, our Code of Ethics by posting such information on our Web site at www.hhgroup.com. We are not including the information contained on our Web site as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this report.

## **ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

Pursuant to Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required in Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the captions "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Director Compensation" and "Executive Compensation."

## ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required in Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the caption "Principal Stockholders."

## **Equity Compensation Plan Information**

The following table presents information on the Company's existing equity incentive plans as of December 31, 2005.

	Number of shares to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options A	Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options B	Number of shares remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding shares reflected in <u>Column A)(1)</u> C
Equity Compensation Plans approved by stockholders:			
Long Term Incentive Plan	2,794,165	\$ 11.57	976,686
Employee Stock Purchase Plan	—	—	793,374
Equity Compensation Plans not approved by stockholders:	_	_	_
Total	2,794,165	\$ 11.57	1,770,242

(1) Excludes 25,750 shares of restricted common stock vesting over a three-year retention period and 112,500 shares of restricted common stock vesting over a fouryear vesting period, previously issued under the Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan.

### **Table of Contents**

## ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Not applicable.

### ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pursuant to Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required in Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the caption "Ratification of the Appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as Independent Registered Public Accountants."

## PART IV

### ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial statements—The following financial statements and the report of independent registered public accounting firm are contained in Item 8.

	I uge
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	33
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	35
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004	36
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	37
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	38
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	39

2. Financial statement schedules

Schedule II—Valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves.

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present, or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits—The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

## REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors Hudson Highland Group, Inc. New York, New York

The audits referred to in our report dated March 10, 2006, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Hudson Highland Group, Inc., which is contained in Item 8 of this Form 10-K, included the audits of the consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index. This consolidated financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statement schedule based upon our audits.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

BDO SEIDMAN, LLP BDO Seidman, LLP

/s/

New York, New York March 10, 2006

# SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS (IN THOUSANDS)

Column A	Column B	Column C Additions		Column D	Column E
Descriptions	Balance at Beginning of Period	Charged to Costs/Expenses (Recoveries)	Charged to Other Accounts	Deductions	Balance at End of Period
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts					
Year ended December 31, 2003	\$ 10,281	13,482		17,360	\$ 6,403
Year ended December 31, 2004	\$ 6,403	(683)	_	490	\$ 5,230
Year ended December 31, 2005	\$ 5,230	2,233	—	1,975	\$ 5,488

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this Fifteenth of March 2006.

### HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.

By

#### /S/ JON F. CHAIT Jon F. Chait Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/S/ JON F. CHAIT Jon F. Chait	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)	March 15, 2006
/S/ MARY JANE RAYMOND Mary Jane Raymond	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)	March 15, 2006
/S/ RALPH L. O'HARA Ralph L. O'Hara	Vice President, Global Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)	March 15, 2006
/S/ JOHN J. HALEY John J. Haley	Director	March 15, 2006
/S/ JENNIFER LAING Jennifer Laing	Director	March 15, 2006
/S/ NICHOLAS G. MOORE Nicholas G. Moore	Director	March 15, 2006
/S/ DAVID G. OFFENSEND David G. Offensend	Director	March 15, 2006
/S/ RENÉ SCHUSTER René Schuster	Director	March 15, 2006

Exhibit

#### EXHIBIT INDEX

Number	Exhibit Description
(3.1)	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Hudson Highland
	Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed March 14, 2003 (file No. 0-50129)).

- (3.2) Certificate of Designations of the Board of Directors Establishing the Series and Fixing the Relative Rights and Preferences of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 2, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (3.3) Amended and Restated By-laws of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.1) Amended Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among the Registrant and each of its subsidiaries that are signatories thereto, as Borrowers, the lenders that are signatories thereto, as the Lenders, and Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. as the Arranger and Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.2) Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Loan Security Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2003, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.3) Amendment No. 2 to and Consent Under Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2003, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2004 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.4) Amendment No. 3, Consent and Joinder to Amended and Restated Loan Security Agreement, Dated March 2, 2004, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.5) Amendment No. 4, Consent and Joinder to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 27, 2004, among Hudson Highland Group, Inc., the Borrowers (as defined therein), the Joining Guarantors (as defined therein), Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and the lenders identified therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.6) Amendment No. 5 to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2005, by and among Hudson Highland Group, Inc., the Borrowers (as defined therein), Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and the Lenders (as defined therein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.7) Amendment No. 6 to Amended Loan and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2005, among Hudson Highland Group, Inc., the Borrowers (as defined therein), Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and the Lenders (as defined therein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated May 2, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
- (4.8) Amendment No. 8 to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 8, 2005, by and among Hudson Highland Group, Inc., the Borrowers (as defined therein), Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and the Lenders (as defined therein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated June 8, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).

# **Table of Contents**

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
(4.9)	Amendment No. 9 to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2006, by and among Hudson Highland Group, Inc., the Borrowers (as defined therein), Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and the Lenders (as defined therein).
(4.10)	Rights Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and The Bank of New York (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. February 3, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.1)*	Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended through February 2, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s proxy statement for its 2005 annual meeting of shareholders filed with the SEC on March 28, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.2)*	Form of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.3)*	Form of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.4)*	Form of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.5)*	Executive Excise Tax Gross-Up Agreement, effective as of May 6, 2005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and Jon F. Chait (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.6)*	Form of Hudson Highland Group Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of May 6, 2005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and each of Margaretta Noonan, Richard S. Gray, Richard A. Harris, Neil J. Funk, Ralph L. O'Hara and Latham Williams (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.7)*	Executive Agreement, dated June 14, 1005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and Richard W. Pehlke (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated June 9, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.8)*	Hudson Highland Group Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and Elaine A. Kloss (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated June 1, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.9)*	Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of December 1, 2005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and Mary Jane Raymond (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated October 26, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10.10)*	Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of December 31, 2005, between Hudson Highland Group, Inc. and Don Bielinski. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated March 14, 2006 (File No. 0-50129)).
(10.11)*	Hudson Highland Group, Inc. 2004 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan (as Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2005) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 (file No. 0-50129)).
(10 17)*	Summer of Hudson Highland Crown Las Componentian for New complexes Members of the Decid of Directory (incomponent during for Deciding to Decident and the reference to Decident

(10.12)\* Summary of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. Compensation for Non-employee Members of the Board of Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated July 12, 2005 (File No. 0-50129)).

# **Table of Contents**

Exhibit <u>Number</u> (10.13)*	<u>Exhibit Description</u> Summary of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. 2005 Incentive Compensation Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2006 (file No. 0-50129)).
(21)	Subsidiaries of Hudson Highland Group, Inc.
(23)	Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP.
(31.1)	Certification by Chairman and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
(31.2)	Certification by the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
(32.1)	Certification of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
(32.2)	Certification of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
(99.1)	Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders [To be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Regulation 14A within 120 days after December 31, 2005; except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference, the Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders shall not be deemed to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.]

\* A management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

#### CONSENT AND AMENDMENT NO. 9 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

## THIS CONSENT AND AMENDMENT NO. 9 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this "Consent and

<u>Amendment</u>"), dated as of March 9, 2006, is entered into by **HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.**, a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), and each of Parent's Subsidiaries identified on the signature pages hereof (such Subsidiaries, together with Parent, are referred to hereinafter each individually as a "<u>Borrower</u>", and individually and collectively, jointly and severally, as "<u>Borrowers</u>"), **WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, INC.**, a California corporation, as the arranger and administrative agent for the Lenders ("<u>Agent</u>"), and the lenders identified on the signature pages hereof (such lenders, together with their respective successors and assigns, are referred to hereinafter each individually as a "<u>Lender</u>" and collectively as the "<u>Lenders</u>").

### WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Borrowers, Agent and Lenders are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2003 (as amended, restated, supplemented, extended, renewed or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Loan Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of a Consent to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2005, as amended by an Amendment to Consent, dated as of September 29, 2005 (as so amended, the "<u>Consent</u>"), Borrowers and Agent have heretofore consented to the waiver of the condition to the Lender Group's obligation to make Advances set forth in Section 3.3(a) of the Loan Agreement (the "<u>Waiver</u>"), which Waiver is currently effective for the period commencing on July 6, 2005 and ending on December 31, 2005 (the "<u>Subject Period</u>"); and

WHEREAS, Borrowers have requested that the Subject Period, and effectiveness of the Waiver, be extended, as more fully set forth hereinbelow; and

WHEREAS, Borrowers have further requested that the Loan Agreement be amended to modify certain terms thereof, as more fully set forth hereinbelow; and

WHEREAS, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth herein, Agent and Lenders are willing to consent to the extension of the Subject Period and to the amendment of the Loan Agreement upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: **1. DEFINITIONS**. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them, respectively, in the Loan Agreement, as amended hereby. 2. <u>CONSENT TO EXTENSION</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Consent and Amendment, the Agent and Lenders hereby consent and agree, effective as of December 31, 2005, to the extension of the Subject Period and the effectiveness of the Waiver through December 31, 2006. Nothing contained in this Section 2 or elsewhere in this Consent and Amendment shall limit, or be deemed to limit, Agent's and Lenders' rights and remedies arising as a result of the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default, including, without limitation, the right to cease making Advances.

### 3. AMENDMENTS TO LOAN AGREEMENT.

(a) Effective as of January 1, 2006, Section 7.20(a)(i) of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

"(a) Fail to maintain:

(i) **Minimum Adjusted EBITDA**. Adjusted EBITDA, measured on a month-end or quarter-end basis as set forth below, of not less than the required amount set forth in the following table (in thousands) for the applicable month set forth opposite thereto:

Appl	icable Amount 2005	Appl	icable Amount 2006	Applicable Month
\$	(4,000)	\$	15,000	January
\$	(2,000)	\$	15,000	February
\$	4,500	\$	15,000	March
\$	5,000	\$	15,000	April
\$	5,000	\$	15,000	May
\$	5,000	\$	15,000	June
\$	6,000	\$	25,000	July
\$	6,000	\$	25,000	August
\$	6,000	\$	25,000	September
\$	6,000	\$	25,000	October
\$	6,000	\$	25,000	November
\$	6,000	\$	25,000	December

Adjusted EBITDA shall be determined on a trailing twelve-month basis and shall be measured (x) on a month-end basis at all times that the Account Report Base is less than \$30,000,000 and (y) on a quarter-end basis at all other times. Agent shall establish

required minimum amounts for periods ending after December 31, 2006 on such basis as Agent may determine in its Permitted Discretion, consistent with methods employed to establish minimum amounts for prior periods, but in no event shall required minimum Adjusted EBITDA amounts for such later periods be less than the amounts set forth above for corresponding periods in 2006."

(b) Section 7.20(b)(i) of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

"(i) **Capital Expenditures**. Capital expenditures in any fiscal year in excess of (i) \$8,800,000 for Borrowers' fiscal 2003, (ii) \$11,000,000 for Borrowers' fiscal 2004, (iii) \$13,000,000 for Borrowers' fiscal 2005, (iv) \$14,000,000 for Borrowers' fiscal 2006, and (v) such required maximum amounts for fiscal years occurring after Borrowers' fiscal 2006 as Agent may determine in its Permitted Discretion, consistent with methods employed to establish maximum amounts for prior fiscal years. So long as, as of the end of any fiscal year of Borrowers, no Event of Default then exists or has occurred and is continuing, the amount of capital expenditures permitted in such fiscal year which remains unused may be added to the permitted amount of capital expenditures in the immediately following fiscal year."

4. <u>CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THIS AMENDMENT</u>. The satisfaction of each of the following shall constitute conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this Consent and Amendment and each and every provision hereof:

(a) The representations and warranties in the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the date hereof, as though made on such date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties relate solely to an earlier date);

(b) No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date hereof or after giving effect to the effectiveness of this Consent and Amendment; and

(c) Agent shall have received, in form and content satisfactory to Agent, a fully executed copy of this Consent and Amendment.

5. <u>CONDITIONS SUBSEQUENT TO THIS AMENDMENT</u>. Agent shall receive the reaffirmation and consent of each Guarantor, in the form of <u>Exhibit A</u> attached hereto, duly executed and delivered by an authorized official of such Guarantor, on or before April 15, 2006 with respect to all Guarantors. It is expressly acknowledged and agreed that the failure to deliver to Agent each fully executed reaffirmation and consent required by this Section 5 on or before the applicable date set forth above shall terminate the effectiveness of this Consent and Amendment and of all the terms and conditions hereof.

6. <u>CONSTRUCTION</u>. THIS CONSENT AND AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

7. ENTIRE AMENDMENT; EFFECT OF AMENDMENT. This Consent and Amendment, and the terms and provisions hereof, constitute the entire agreement among the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all prior or contemporaneous amendments relating to the subject matter hereof. Except for the extension of the Subject Period pursuant to Section 2 hereof and the amendments to the Loan Agreement expressly set forth in <u>Section 3</u> hereof, the Loan Agreement and other Loan Documents shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. To the extent any terms or provisions of this Consent and Amendment conflict with those of the Loan Agreement or other Loan Documents, the terms and provisions of this Consent and Amendment shall control. This Consent and Amendment is a Loan Document.

8. <u>COUNTERPARTS; TELEFACSIMILE EXECUTION</u>. This Consent and Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument and any of the parties hereto may execute this Consent and Amendment by signing any such counterpart. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Consent and Amendment by telefacsimile shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Consent and Amendment by telefacsimile also shall promptly deliver an original executed counterpart of this Consent and Amendment, but the failure to deliver an original executed counterpart shall not affect the validity, enforceability, and binding effect of this Consent and Amendment.

### 9. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a) Upon the effectiveness of this Consent and Amendment, each reference in the Loan Agreement to "this Agreement", "hereunder", "herein", "hereof" or words of like import referring to the Loan Agreement shall mean and refer to the Loan Agreement as heretofore amended and as further amended by this Consent and Amendment.

(b) Upon the effectiveness of this Consent and Amendment, each reference in the Loan Documents to the "Loan Agreement", "thereunder", "therein", "thereof" or words of like import referring to the Loan Agreement shall mean and refer to the Loan Agreement as heretofore amended and as further amended by this Consent and Amendment.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Consent and Amendment No. 9 to be executed and delivered as of the date first written above.

### HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.,

as Parent and a Borrower Parent and on behalf of Guarantors

### HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES AMERICA, INC., fka HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP GLOBAL RESOURCES AMERICA, INC., as a Borrower

HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS, INC., fka HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP GLOBAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS, INC., as a Borrower

By: Title:

### HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES MANAGMENT, INC., fka HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP GLOBAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT, INC., as a Borrower

By: Title:

HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES LIMITED, as a Borrower

By: Title:

#### HIGHLAND PARTNERS LIMITED, as a Borrower

By: Title:

HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES (AUST) PTY LTD., as a Borrower

By:

Title:

## HUDSON TRADE & INDUSTRIAL SERVICES

PTY LTD., as a Borrower

By: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Title: \_\_\_\_\_\_

HUDSON TRADE & INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS PTY LTD., as a Borrower

By: Title:

#### HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES (NEWCASTLE) PTY LTD., as a Borrower

By:

Title:

HIGHLAND PARTNERS (AUST) PTY LTD., as a Borrower

HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP SEARCH, INC., as a Borrower

By: Бу: \_\_\_\_\_ Title: \_\_\_\_\_

JAMES BOTRIE AND ASSOCIATES INC., as a Borrower

By:

Title:

#### HIGHLAND PARTNERS CO (CANADA), fka 3057313 NOVA SCOTIA COMPANY, as a Borrower

HUDSON PAYROLL SERVICES, LIMITED, as a Borrower

By:

Title: \_\_\_\_\_\_

# WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, INC.,

as Agent and as a Lender

By: Title:

THE CIT GROUP/BUSINESS CREDIT, INC. as a Lender

By: Title:

# EXHIBIT A REAFFIRMATION AND CONSENT

Reference is made to that certain Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2003, by and among **HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP, INC.,** a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), and each of Parent's Subsidiaries identified on the signature pages thereto (such Subsidiaries, together with Parent, are referred to hereinafter individually as a "<u>Borrower</u>", and individually and collectively, jointly and severally, as "<u>Borrowers</u>"), **WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, INC.**, a California corporation, as the arranger and administrative agent for the Lenders ("<u>Agent</u>"), and the lenders identified on the signature pages thereto (such lenders, together with their respective successors and assigns, are referred to hereinafter each individually as a "Lender" and collectively as the "<u>Lenders</u>"), dated as of June 25, 2003 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, the "<u>Loan Agreement</u>"). Reference is further made to that certain Consent and Amendment No. 9 to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2006 (the "<u>Consent and Amendment</u>"), among Borrowers, Agent and Lenders. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Loan Agreement.

Each of the undersigned hereby (a) represents and warrants to Agent and Lenders that the execution, delivery and performance of this Reaffirmation and Consent are within its powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and are not in contravention of any law, rule, or regulation, or any order, judgment, decree, writ, injunction, or award of any arbitrator, court, or governmental authority, or of the terms of its charter or bylaws, or of any contract or undertaking to which it is a party or by which any of its properties may be bound or affected; (b) consents to the transactions contemplated by the Consent and Amendment; (c) acknowledges and reaffirms its obligations owing to Agent and Lenders under any Loan Documents to which it is a party; and (d) agrees that each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party is and shall remain in full force and effect.

Although each of the undersigned has been informed of the matters set forth herein and has acknowledged and agreed to same, each of the undersigned understands that Agent and Lenders have no obligation to inform it of such matters in the future or to seek its acknowledgment or agreement to future amendments, and nothing herein shall create such a duty.

Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Reaffirmation and Consent by telefacsimile shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Reaffirmation and Consent. Any party delivering an executed counterpart of this Reaffirmation and Consent by telefacsimile shall also deliver an original executed counterpart of this Reaffirmation and Consent but the failure to deliver an original executed counterpart shall not affect the validity, enforceability and binding effect of this Reaffirmation and Consent. This Reaffirmation and Consent shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have each caused this Reaffirmation and Consent to be executed with the intent that it be deemed effective as of March 9, 2006.

PEOPLE.COM CONSULTANTS, INC.
PEOPLE.COM TECHNOLOGY PARTNERS, INC.
HUDSON HIGHLAND GROUP HOLDINGS
INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CORNELL TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC.
HUDSON HIGHLAND CENTER FOR HIGH
PERFORMANCE, LLC
JMT FINANCIAL PARTNERS, LLC
DELTA SEARCH GROUP, INC.
HUDSON HIGHLAND (APAC) PTY LIMITED
MORGAN & BANKS HOLDINGS AUSTRALASIA PTY
LIMITED
HIGHLAND HOLDCO (AUST) PTY LTD.
HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES (NZ) LTD.
M&B HOLDCO NZ
HIGHLAND HOLDCO (NZ)
HIGHLAND PARTNERS (NZ) LIMITED

## HIGHLAND PARTNERS SA/NV

By: Title:

### DE WITTE & MOREL GLOBAL **RESOURCES NV/SA**

By: Title:

## HIGHLAND PARTNERS SARL

## HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES SAS

By: Title:

HUDSON GROUP HOLDINGS B.V, fka HIGHLAND PARTNERS HOLDING B.V.

By: Title:

HUDSON GLOBAL RESOURCES B.V., fka HIGHLAND PARTNERS B.V.

By:

Title:

HUDSON HUMAN CAPITAL SOLUTIONS B.V., fka HUDSON GROUP HOLDINGS B.V.

By: Title:

BALANCE FINANCIEEL MANAGEMENT B.V. BALANCE JURIDISCH MANAGEMENT B.V. BALANCE TECHNISCH MANAGEMENT B.V. BALANCE PUBLIC MANAGEMENT B.V. BALANCE ERVARING OP PROJECTBASIS B.V.

\_\_\_\_\_

By:

Title:

[Reaffirmation and Consent]

# EXHIBIT 21

# List of Significant Subsidiaries of Hudson Highland Group, Inc.

Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s significant subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, are listed below. All other subsidiaries, if considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary. Highland Partners conducts its business operations in the United States through Hudson Highland Group, Inc.

Subsidiary	State or jurisdiction of incorporation	Percentage owne
Hudson Global Resources Holding, Inc.	Delaware	100%
Hudson Global Resources Management, Inc.	Pennsylvania	100%
People.com Technology Partners, Inc.	Delaware	100%
Hudson Highland Group Holdings International, Inc.	Delaware	100%
Hudson Highland Center for High Performance, LLC	Delaware	80%
Cornell Technical Services, Inc.	Virginia	100%
Delta Search Group, Inc.	Illinois	100%
People.com Consultants, Inc.	California	100%
Hudson Global Resources America, Inc.	Florida	100%
JMT FINANCIAL PARTNERS, LLC	Colorado	100%
Hudson Highland Group Search, Inc.	Canada	100%
Highland Partners Co (Canada)	Canada	100%
James Botrie & Associate	Canada	100%
Hudson Global Resources Limited	United Kingdom	100%
Hudson Trade & Industrial Services Pty Ltd.	Australia	100%
Hudson Global Resources (NZ) Ltd	New Zealand	100%
Hudson Global Resources S.A.S.	France	100%
Hudson Global Resources S.L.	Spain	100%
Hudson Highland Group Srl	Italy	99.5%
Hudson Global Resources Madrid S.L.	Spain	100%
Hudson Global Resources AS	Norway	100%
HH Global Resources A.B.	Sweden	100%
Hudson Global Resources (Singapore) Pte Limited	Singapore	100%
Hudson Global Resources Hong Kong Limited	Hong Kong	100%
Hudson Human Capital Solutions (Shanghai) Ltd	China	100%
Hudson Highland Group Search, Inc.	Canada	100%
Hudson Global Resources Kft	Hungary	100%
Hudson Global Resources s.r.o	Czech Republic	100%
Hudson Global Resources Sp.Zo.O	Poland	100%
TMP Personnel Select s.r.o (Slovakia)	Slovakia	100%
Melville Craig Group Limited	Scotland	100%
Balance Ervaring op Projectbasis B.V.	Netherlands	100%
De Witte & Morel Global Resources N.V.	Belgium	99.0%
De Witte & Morel Global Resources S.A.	Luxembourg	99.9%
Highland Partners Limited	United Kingdom	100%
Highland Partners Co (Canada)	Canada	100%
Highland Partners (Australia) Pty Ltd	Australia	100%

Hudson Highland Group, Inc. New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-4 (No. 333-119563) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-104209, 333-104210, 333-104212, 333-117005, 333-117006 and 333-126915) of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. of our reports dated March 10, 2006, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, and management's assessment of and the effective operation of Hudson Highland Group, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting, which appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

New York, New York March 10, 2006

#### CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jon F. Chait, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hudson Highland Group, Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
  - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 15, 2006

/s/ JON F. CHAIT

Jon F. Chait Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

#### CERTIFICATIONS

I, Mary Jane Raymond, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hudson Highland Group, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
  - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 15, 2006

# /s/ MARY JANE RAYMOND

Mary Jane Raymond Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

### Written Statement of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section.1350, I, the undersigned Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ JON F. CHAIT

Jon F. Chait March 15, 2006

### Written Statement of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, I, the undersigned Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hudson Highland Group, Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ MARY JANE RAYMOND

Mary Jane Raymond March 15, 2006